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INTRODUCTION

‘This all began in the summer of 1991. T had been retired from the College of Medi-
cine for four years when I received a copy of a memo to a fairly large group asking us o
serve on a committee for the 75th Anniversary of the University of Nebraska Hospital
and the Universiy of Nebraska College of Nursing. Having elected to do so, I eventu-
ally ended up as chairman of the subcommitice on history. The other members of that
committee were Alice Friedlander, retired Director of Volunteer Services; Kathy
McConnell, President of the Hospital Auxiliary; Sharon Redding from the College of
Nursing Alumni Association; Nancy Schneckloth, Assistant Professor College of Nurs-
ing and editor of the 70-year history of the College of Nursing; and Carol Wilson, re-
tired Director of the Nursing Service. Among a number of other things, the committee’s
‘major contribution was a three-pancled display depicting the histories of the Hospital
and the College of Nursing.

Farlyon, ion of the hospital's
history. Nancy Schneckloth had done the necessary rescarch for the 70-ear history of
the College of Nursing and this only needed to be updated. My personal frustration
which arose from attempis to provide a history of the hospital in the absence of ad-
equate records or documentation led me to offer to research the necessary information
and write a 75-year history.

T reviewed “The First Hundred Years”, the history of the College of Medicine, for
information on the University Hospital and it reference list noted a number of poten-
tial documents which could be used. I reviewed every copy of the Medical Center's
internal publication, “The Pulse” later the “University of Nebraska Medical Center News™
from the first publication in December 1953 through 1992 and, subsequently, 1993. At
the time of my initial review, I made notes of what appeared to be potentially useful
information. As might be expected, I subsequently had to return many times as needs
arose which I had not initially anticipated.

Ms. Helen Yam, Archivst of the McGoogan Library, located a number of documents
forme. I discovered the “Nurse Reporter” of the College of Nursing” and the “Commu-
nicator” of the hospital Nursing Service which provided information I had not found
elsewhere. Ultimately, the recollection of individuals associated with the Medical Cen-
ter now or in the past were a significant source of information.

“This book is not meant to be a narrative history of the University Hospital, but it isa
compilation of as much information as I could find in the three years Iworked on it. 1
must point out that I have not labored diligently for 36 months but only for the four
months of “winter” in cach of the years 199192 through 199394 when I could not
pursue my avocation of horticulture. A few areas are dealt with in great detail because




of personal knowledge and interest. I hope I have provided two things, a brief histori-
calrecord of i Nebraska 1917-199:

for those who wish to pursue any particular area in greater detail. Any documents
which I have been able to collect are now located in the archives of the McGoogan
Library at the University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, Nebraska. I fecl this may
be my isp throughout the Medi-
al (lenm and ultimately would have been lost as many documents already have been.
T hope the reader will find this book informative even if not absorbing.

EMS.
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PHYSICAL FACILITIES

‘The University of Nebraska Hospital came into existence because of the University of
Nebraska College of Medicine so their histories are intimately linked. A very brief re-
view of the beginnings of the College of Medicine is appropriate as an introduction to
this History, especially as it relates to the clinical facilities used by the College of Medi-
cine. In September, 1881, a building to house the Omaha Medical College, the progeni-
tor of the University College of Medicine, was completed at 11th and Masons Streets
adjacent to the old St. Joseph Hospital . Arrangements were made to use the hospital
for clinical teaching, In 1886, the Omaha Medical College building was moved to the
southeast corner of 12th and Pacific Streets, and in 1893 a threestory building was
erected at that site . It included six clinic rooms to see patients.

‘The opening of the College of Medicine at Creighton University eventually resulied
in the loss of teaching facilities for the Omaha Medical College at St. Joseph Hosptal.
However, several other hospitals, Immanuel, Methodist, Douglas County, and Presbyte-
rian were used ™. In April, 1902, an agreement between the University Board of Re-
gentsand the Trustes of the Omaha Medical College esablished the College of Medi-
cine of the University of Nebraska®. The 1908 University of Nebraska Medical Bulle-
tin, “..empha: Clarkson, Methodist,
and Inmanue Hosital and with the new biling of the Douglas County Hospital” ™.

In 1905 the Igidature appropriaed $20.00 or the purchase of a ampus s in
Omaha, and tion of $50,000
was promised by leading citizens of Omaha to support construction ofa hospital and a
classroom building, but the money never materialized . In 1911, the legislature ap-
propriated $100,000 and a laboratory building designed to house the entire medical
college was dedicated October 16, 1913. However, no hospital was bult.

Finally in 1915, Dean Irving Cutter persuaded the legislature that a teaching hospital
vas essential, and $150,000 was appropriated . The first unit of University Hospital
consisting of 130 beds was dedicated September 3, 1917, The purpose of the hospital
was set forth by the University of Nebraska Board of Regents ®27

“The hospital for the University of Netraska at Omaha s not founded uith theidea of receving

the i i Worthy sick, he e

Specfed, shall b admited upon rcept by the hostal authoritis ofa niten application stting
that the patient needs medical or surgical attention, and that he is unable to pay for pressonal
servies at the hospital.”

‘Throughout much of this history, it will be necessary to refer to locations of various
services as well as physical aditions to the hospital Since the Medical Center complex
is located on a hill, a decision was made about the time Unit 3 was added to employ a



Front view of Unit 1, late 19305

“level” designation to refer to the various “floors”. This can be quite confusing to any-
one who is not familiar with it. The following explanation will help orient the reader
and provide a reference source, if necessary, as he or she proceeds through this history.

‘When the hospital opened in September of 1917, the front entrance of the hospital in
Unit 1 faced 42nd Street to the east. The ground level was called the first floor. Steps
led up to the actual front entrance which was at the level of the second floor. When
Units 3and 4 were added fronting on 44th Street, the ground level was one “floor” lower
than the ground level of Units 1 and 2. The new ‘level” system designated the floor
below the ground level of Unit 3 as level 1, level £ referred to the ground level of Unit 3.
Asnoted, this is one floor lower than the ground level in Units 1 and 2, so level 3 corre-
sponds to the ground level in those two units. This level concept will be adhered o
throughout this history. For those who may rescarch information on Units 1 and 2 cited
in this history, references to the first floor in either of those units correspond to level 3
and so on through the fifth floor which will correspond to level 7. Since the level desig-



nation was used when Units 3 and 4 were added, any reference to “floors” in those units
should correspond to the level designation.

Dean Cutter recognized the growing need for expanded clinical faciliies and re-
quested funds from the legislature, which eventually appropriated $200.000in 1925, to
build Unit 2 of the hospital and increase s capacity to 250 beds. An interesting anec-
dote concerning this expansion came to light in a letter from Dr. Walter W. Hurmann,
aCollege of Medicine graduatc.

“The second unit of the it ing the time I

fistesidentof athlogy e W  iltive commievisied henstittion during
perative that allthe beds in beoccupied, so

asto make the mamly of a newrwing very obvious. As a result, some of the empy beds were

soon filld with interns or student murses”

‘The new wing was completed in 1927 but remained closed for a brief period since no
funds had been appropriated for operating costs . Dr. J. Jay Keegan, Dean of the

View from north of Units 1 (1) and 2 (right), Septembes 1927



Overhead view of UNMC Campus 1928, viewed from southeast

College of Medicine, requested an additional sum of $125,000 from the legislature for
equipment to be used in the unit, and it was finally opened in 1927 .

‘As carly as 1916, the general plans of the College of Medicine envisioned a third
hospital unit. In 1939, Dr. E. . Bean, in an article in “Hospital Management™ ® noted,
“Plans had been formulated and presented before the legislature for stil a third unit of
the main hospital unit, but this being a year of retrenchment rather than expansion, no
appropriation was made in the Unicameral session recently concluded.” In the 1940's,
the idea of a third unit was still in existence, but it had lost its status as a hospital wing
and for a time included part of the University Clinic, new operating rooms, and new
uility spaces

In 1953, the Nebraska legislature passed LB11, appropriating a $6,000,000 building
fund for the construction of Unit 3 of the University Hospital. This money was to accrue
from 2 0.25 mill levy . By Nebraska law, no construction could begin until the funds
were actually available. A Building Committee chaired by Dr. F. Lowell Dunn, working
with Dean Perry Tollman, was to coordinate the building project on campus 9, Various
reports contained in the campus publication, “The Pulse” during the years from 1953 to
1958, revealed that the configuration of Unit 3, plus other non-hospital projects to be
financed by the appropriations, changed significantly (%%, The prevailing con-
cept of the “Medical Center” during this period, envisioned it as consisting of all the
buildings and other entities n the area. Ina “Pulse” supplement of February 2, 1956 *
it was noted that the addition of Children’s Memorial Hospital in 1948 was the begin-




ning of the Medical Center, followed by the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute, Bishop
Clarkson Memorial Hospital, The Doctors Building, and a proposed Children’s Center.

A nursing dormitory, a laundry, and at one point, funding to purchase land for the
Children’s Center plus other miscellaneous expenses, came out of the $6,000,000 ap-
propriation before Unit 3 ever got sarted. A review of all the changing reports as o the
facilities to be contained in Unit 3 would be furile. Two building report supplements of
“The Pulse”, plus a description of the unit as actually constructed, should suffice. In a
special report in May, 1954, ® a discussion of the “changes” in the plans for Unit 3
briefly documented that the north wing was to contain the University Clinics in 20,000
square feet, Radiology, Clinical Pathology, surgm clinical department offices, and re-
search, The center sec
auditorium esimated at 800 capacity plus  lobby,seminar rooms, ibrary and business
and deparumenal offices. In the supplement of 1956, Unit 3 was t0 2dd sufficent

tal up t0 400, library,an
area for student activty, a food preparation and dining area, clinical department space
for offices, research and diagnosiic teaching, 20,000 square feet for clinics, and a post
graduate area, including an auditorium with a 600 seat capacity and sufficient lobby
space to permit meetings of smaller specialty societies.

In November, 1938, the Board of Regents issued callsfor bids for Unit 3 plus renova-
tions of existing buildingsto cost §2,200,000 0. Ttwas to be done in two phases, Phase:
1 and Phase 1A ata cost of $1,800,000 for Phase 1 and $400,000,00 for Phase 1A. Phase

ient clinics, Radiology, Pathology, Clinical Laboratory, Pharmacy,
Ad.mmurmuun, Medical Records, Social Services, and some classrooms. Phase 1 was
designated specifically for research, and funding was not to come from the mill levy
money but from research and construction grants from outside agencies. A number of
the Thearticlein “The Pulse”
9 reporting the Regent's call for bids noted, “Future construction needs include a
surgcal e ary, fod srvite and dinng s, cssooms, et aoes, i
at that time.
A gmundbr:akmg ceremony for Uit v held December 21,1958 and work onthe
1961 and the unit was
occupied in June "9, At that time, Radiology occupied most of level 1 with inpatient
pharmacy located in nd of that level. the
west side of the north end of level 2 and the emergency room was on the east side. The
College of Medicine and hospital administration offices were on the south end. The
clinical laboratory, department offices and classrooms occupied the third level.

Before proceeding to the next significant physical change in the hospital, there are
two items of historical they could signific
cantly on the addition of Unit 3. In the spring of 1957, a bill was submitted to the
legislature at the request of Governor Victor Anderson to repeal the mill levy which
funded the Medical Center Building Fund ®. It was defeated. In 1959, Senator Terry




Unit 3 outpatient entrance, April, 1969

Carpenter introduced a bill o remove the §6,000,000 ceiling, and to continue the 0.95
mill levy indefinitely . It also was defeated.

In 1963, 2 20 year longrange plan was proposed for the expenditure of $35,000,000
for a series of new buildings linked to the hospital plus renovations of old buildings.
‘This included a plan for a new 200 bed acute care hospital on the east side of 42nd
Street, north o the Child Savings Institute, connecting to the existing hospital by an
enclosed walkway over 42nd Street. This longrange plan was to funded by 1.0 mill tax
levy for two years which would then drop to0 0.25 mill for the next five years. It was
approved by the Legislative Revenue Committee, but it id not pass the legislature 49,

‘This plan was apparently conceived by the University Administration without consul-
tation with the College of Medicine faculty. It was presented to the Executive Faculty of
the College of Medicine *..as a matter of information...”, January 7, 1963 . The
majority of the clinical faculty were opposed to the plan and two “white papers” were
submitted voicing this opposition (43, 164). These were called to my attention by Dr.
Edward Holyoke. The plan called for other physical facilities modifications in addition




o the new hospital plus the addition of more full-tme clinical faculty. Lack of funding
precluded its implementation.

No further physical additions to the hospital occurred for several years. In early
1965, Dean Cecil Wittson proposed a building plan for the Medical Center. It was to
include a 200 bed hospital wing with a dictary center and 30,000 square feet of clinic
space, a medical amphitheater with a parking tower and a new basic science building
and library. Dean Wittson indicated that the reason for not building a larger hospital
was that he anticipated, *.using the existing facliies of affiliated hospitals for a con-
siderable part of the clinical instruction for our students..” ). In 1965, the legisla-
tre at the end of its session, approved a sixyear capital improvement budget for the
University. The College of Medicine’s share was to be $7,600,000. Dean Wittson ap-
plied for matching funds from the National Institutes of Health. The Health Profes-
sional Assistance Act expired June 30, 1965, and the Nebraska application was delivered
on that dae.

‘The proposal, as submitted to the National Institutes of Health, called for construc-
tion of 200 hospital beds, space for clinics,remodeling of Units 1 and 2,and a nev basic
science building. The new hospital addition was to be built on top and extend beyond
the south side of the existing Unit 3. The 1965 Mid-Summer dition of “The Pulse”
noted, *Some interesting features: a maternal and child ambulatorium...an adolescent
or obstetrical unit for mothers under 15 years of age..a family practice clinic..a new
emergency room and an ambulance entrance on the south side” ©%.

Bidsfor (Unit4) containin
November 30, 1966. The awarded contractvas for §5,211,000 0¥ A ground-breaking

January 12, 196
0f 1969 At that time, levels 4 through 7 contained patient rooms as well as some class-
rooms and offices off the corridors connecting with Unit 2. A new dining arca was
located at level 3 0 the south of old Unit 3 with some connecting private dining rooms
on the west side above the new entrance to the hospital. The pharmacy, central supply
and the emergency service area were located on the south side of level 2. The emer-
‘gency room was not occupied until March, 1970, Lastly,a new surgery suite was located
on level 1 on the south side. The unit was not totally occupied immediately and docu-
‘mentation of various moves is not available. However, patients were moved into Unit 4
in June, 1969 (9. Some remodeling of the older units was occurring concurrent with
construction of Unit 4 . Levels 5 and 6 of Unit 2 were remodeled and 38 pediatrc

those level 128, 196702, It the Herman
Jabr Pediatric Pasilion on Notember 6, 1967 04,

two other o0 the hospital between Unit 2
and Unit 3 and 4 In 197475, 2 building to house the Ophthalmology department
offices, clinic facility, and the Lions Eye Bank was buil at level 3 on the south side be-
tween Units 2and 3 0. In 1981-89, a Solarium for patients was added at the fifth level



between Units 2and 4 above the Lions Eye Institute with space between allowing for an
addition at the fourth level. The Solarium was funded by the hospital auxiliary with
money from the gifi shop (7™,

‘Actual bed capacity of University Hospi ly impossible to d sin
no specific records were kept. The Annual Report completed by the Hospital Record
Department based on Admitting Office Monthly Reports documented that the hospital
had 228 “adul” beds which included the beds in the pediatric units, plus 46 infant
cribs, for a total of 264 in 1970. Bed capacity of the hospital has varied as the University
of Nebraska Medical Center (UNMC) has grown so that it s difficult to assign a specific
number of beds to the hospital. In December, 1968, UNMC began an affiliation with
the Hatrie B. Monroe Home. As a result, 12 beds were added to its official count but
these were not included in the figures given above. When they are included, the total
becomes 276. The Nebraska Pain Management Center was opened in February, 1973,
adding eight previously unused beds to the count. As of July, 1979, beds were discontin-
ued at Hattie B. Monroe Home so these 12 were lost. With modifications and changes
in services offered, the July, 1983, hospital count was, Adult 249, Nursery 5, Pain Unit
8 for a total of 309, Review of the annual statistics in subsequent years revealed some
variation in specific counts.

In September, 1985, the Nebraska l’sychmmc Institute came under the University
Hospital adding 74 beds. With th of the psychi the
University of Nebraska and Creighton University as of July 1, 1987, ) most inpatient
cases went to St. Joseph Mental Health Center under the aegis of Creighton University.
The development of a geriatric program at UNMC resulted in the opening of a Geriat-




ic Rehabilitation Unit of 30 beds in the previous Nebraska Psychiatric Insitute in De-
cember, 1988 0. A “Feeding Disorders Unit" was opened in July, 1988, vith eight
beds, and there were 14 geriatric psychiatry beds remaining. The Pain Management
Program became an outpatient program in July, 1985, eliminating is eight beds. Ac-
cordingly, the “offcial” bed count as of July, 1988, was 353, Lastl, in September, 1990,
the Medical Center reached an agreement with Lutheran Medical Center o lease space
in its faciites. The unit was called, “University Hospital at Lutheran.” This was later
changed to University Hospital East. The Medical Center acquired 2 42 bed nursing
unit on the fourth floor, a surgery suite and access o various services and equipment
@, Atfirst, 20 beds were staffed when the unit opened September 4, 1990. More beds
were opened as staff became available and in a short ime, 30 beds were available. This
bed capacity remained unchanged through June, 1992. In the year July, 1991, through
June, 1992, 1,034 patients were discharged and 5,987 patient days of care provided in
University Hospital East.

With the continuing increase in clinical faculty and a doubling of clinic visits be-
tween 1967 and 1972, it became obvious that more clinic space was needed. A success-
ful application to the Department of Health, Education and Welfare resulted in an

50

Univerity of Neaska Clinic Building frot entrance



award of $6,533,900 in 1974 for construction of an Ambulatorium 9 Matching funds
were supplied by the State. The construction bid was accepted in September, 1975, and
construction started in November (" During planning and construction, the building
was designated as the “Ambulatorium”. Although the name was technically correct, it
was felt by the faculty and saff that it might be confusing to the public and the building
was uldmately called, “The Universiy of Nebraska Clinic” at the time of its dedication,
October 9, 1977 (5150 The offices of the departments of Internal Medicine, Surgery,
Obstetrics and Gynecology, Family Practice, and Pathology, were moved into the build-
ing and the majority of oupasent clnics were relocated no .

e latest major ads Care Project,
was approved by the Board o Regents in December, 1935 0%, The project was (o cost
478 million dollars including 6.1 million for a 750 stall parking structure to provide
‘much needed additional parking faciliies. Ttwas to include significanly increased out-
patient clinic facilties, new operating rooms, plus other needed space. Services to oc-
cupy the new facility were documented in the “UNMG News” of October 23,1992 (9,

Lower Level:  Medical material services and pharmacy bulk storage

Level 1 Six operating rooms, main lobby, information booth, outpatient reg-
istration, outpatient diagnostic center and medical records
Level 2: Outpatient pharmacy, Orthopedic clinic and Otorhinolaryngology/
Audiology clinic
Level 3: Oral Surgery/Adult Dentistry clinic and Family Practice/Employee
Health clinic
Level 4: Pediarric clinic and Obstetric/ Gynecology clinic
Level 5: Internal Medicine and Surgery clinics
Alanding pad with fate faciliies for the Life Flight Heli as to be on the
roof.

A mumber of services were to be moved and/ or expanded into space in the hospital
vacated by the services which moved into the new facility. The University of Nebraska
Clinic building was to be renovated and converted into new faculty offices.

In June, 1993, a committee brought together by Chancellor Aschenbrener recom-
mended the following name changes which were accepted. The new clinic building,
which had been referred to as “The University Health Care Project” during construc-
tion, was named the *Outpatient Care Center” which it was felt patients could more
easily relate to. The existing clinic building was to be called, “The University Medical
Associates” ),

‘Actual physical moves into the Outpatient Care Center were to occur over a two-week
period ™, Surgery was to move to Level 1 February 26-March 1, 1993. The new Multi-
Disciplinary Diagnostic Center, for routine pre-admission, pre-surgery, and outpatient
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UNMC Campus
1993 viewed from
southeast.

Lt
Outpatent Care
Conter



teststo Level 1 during March 13, and Medical Records to Level 1 March 3-7. Gift Shop
to Level 2 March 68, and Outpatient Pharmacy to Level 2 March 10. Lastly, clinic
‘moves were to occur between March 11 and March 15. All moves went pretty much as
planned. Subsequently, the Outpatient Care Center has served as the major campus
outpatient facility although a few clinics remain in Units 1 and 2. An official dedica-
tion ceremony was held on Apri 23, 1993 .
The ‘provision of oulpmcn( clinical services has been an integral part of the Univer-
it Historically, the Omaha Medical
Colleg: had, *.individual rooms for patients...” ® in the building at 11th and Mason
Sureets. Clinics were also held at St. Joseph's Hospital and after its loss to Creighton
University, clinics were developed at Immanuel, Methodist, Douglas County and Pres-
byterian hospitals ™. As noted earler, the building erected at 12th & Pacific Streetsin
1893 contained six clinic rooms on the first floor 9.

In the 1913-14 academic year, the first two years pre-clinical teaching of the Univer-
sity College of Medicine was moved from Lincoln to the campus at Devey Avenue and
42nd Streets in Omaha, and the Omaha Medical College building was closed. The
Dispensary, as the outpatient clinic was called, was continued by refurbishing the first
floor of Jacob's Hall at 1716 Dodge Street, and clinics were held there even after Unit
1was opened in 1917 ™. Following the opening of the South Laboratory building on
the College of Medicine campus, clinics were moved there March 2, 1920 ™ and the
Dodge Street Clinic was closed.

South Laboratory Building, 1927

12



Clinics were conducted in Unit 3 of the hospital afer it opened in 1961, however,
some clinics were sill held in the South Laboratory building unil 1963. Ultimately,
when Unit 4 opened in 1969, some departments utlized freed space in Units 1 and 2
for offices and some additional clinics were developed in Unit 3 in the space previously
used by these departments. In addition, the Lion’s Eye Institute between Units 1 and 2
in 1975 provided clinic space for Ophthalmology. As noted earlier the increase in
outpatient services and faculty led to the addition of the University of Nebraska Clinic
building at the northeast end of the hospital, and the new Outpaient Care Center
represents the latest extension of outpatient facilites at the Medical Center.

After moving the outpatient facilites to the South Laboratory building in 1920, all
subsequent increases in outpatient clinic faciliies remained on the campus unil 1967.
Since that time, there has been a progressive increase in sponsored clinics off the cam-
pus. Documentation of much of the following information regarding such outpatient
services had to be obtzined from multiple sources. These included records from the
departments of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faily Practice, Pediatrics and Otorhino-
laryngology, plus the business office of the Dean of the College of Medicine, “The
Pulse” and, occasionall, when no other documented sources were available, personal
recollection of persons involved.

Tt appears that the first *off campus” clinic was conducted at the Booth Memorial
Hospital starting sometime in 1967 under the auspices of the department of Obstetrics
and Gynecology. Residents rotated in that hospital pmvldmg inpatient services, mostly
del

When
the new Booth Memorial Hospial Dpencd in My, 1975 serice changed 1 only out
patient pi n 199,
Clinic was started at W Street, “TthSn':e( Cinicin Omabain September, 1968, and
continued at that location uniil it moved to the South Omaha Neighborhood Associa-
tion (SONA) building at 31st and Q Streets in November, 1975, as the South Omaha
Family Practice Clinic. Subsequently, that clinic was moved to the Southroads Mall on
January 5, 1987, as the Southroads Associates For Family Practice. Most recently,this
facility was closed and Family Practice moved to 3304 Summit Plaza Drive in March,
1892, asthe Universeyof Nebraska Medical Asociates at Summit Plaza. In response to
th Om:
at the SONA building in February, 1992. In addition, Family Practice also started the
Harvey Oaks Medical Associates in May, 1085, at Harvey Oaks Plaza, 14610 West Center
Road.

A satellte clinic of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology offering maternal
and infant care services, known as the Clark Street Clinic, was started at 1728 North
99nd Street in March, 1969, After a robbery of one of the Obstetrics and Gynecology
residents at gun point, it was abandoned in the fal of 1980,

‘The Otorhinolaryngology department started a clinic at the Pine Ridge Indian Res-
ervation in South Dakota in 1971, House officers went to the reservation for four

18



‘month rotations providing both inpatient and outpatient services. It was discontinued
in February/March of 1977 at the time of significant unrest and violent activity on the
e

3465 in March, 1974 bya
Roben Wood Johnson Foundation grant. Iis association with the Medical Center was
apparently rather tenuous and it was closed in 1981 when funding ran out.

A clinic for Pediatrics and Maternal and Infant Care was started in 1978 at the Com-
‘munity Plaza Health Center at 25th and Meredith Streets. It moved to the Mercy
Fontenclle Center at 4500 Ames Avenue in February, 1982. When that building was
sold, it moved to Ames Plaza, 5908 Ames Avenue in February, 1984, Subsequently, the
Maternal and Infant Care Service was discontinued and the Pediatric Clinic moved to
5620 Ames Avenue as the Benson Park Medical Associates in June, 1987.

In Octobe, 1989 he Ophihalmology deparmentand the Lion's ye Bank moved
from the Lion's Eye I anew location at
ourpatient services are rendered. The previous institute structure was renovated and
became the University Clinical Cancer Center for outpatient services.

to the clinical faculty in 1986. At the present time, University Medical Associates, the
clinical faculty’s organization responsible for outpatient clinics a well a other practice

" i HarveyO: 1 Associat
Medical Associates, University Medical Associates at Summit Plaza, and the Family Py
tice Clinic at the South Omaha Neighborhood Association building.

Since one of the primary missions of the University of Nebraska Hospital is patient
care, a look at the volume of care rendered during the past 75 years s essential o our
historical review. The only information available pertaining to the number of patients
treated and the number of days of patient services rendered, came from the monthly
reports of the Admitting Office and the annual reports of the Record Room each of
which were cited earlier in our discussion of hospital bed capacity. With respect to
‘patient care, these records are not complete. No official records could be found cover-
ing the years 1917 through 1920. A sheet in a book containing variable old records was
found with the following statement written at the top, “Total number of patients admit-
ted 1o hospital September 3, 1917 to January 1,1923-9944.” The records from July, 1950
through June 1959 were missing. Such figures as were avalable are summarized in
‘Table 1. Rather than recording every year, it was elected (o report the annual figures at
fivesyear intervals sarting at 1917. The 1917-18 figures, obiously, were not available, so
the first setin thatinterval is 1922-23. There are some exceptions to this system and they
are noted in the Table. As might be expected, there was an increase in the number of
patients served and the number of days of patient service rendered. The number of
beds avalable in the hospital primarily account for the increase between 192798 and
193233 and becween 196768 and 197273, The subsequent drop in the 30's and 40's
was due to closure of beds because of lack of sate funding. A number of other factors

1



such as the type of patients served, the size of the atending physician staff the shift in
emphass from inpatient to outpatient service, plus others beyond the scope of this
historical review, have influenced these figures as well.

'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL INPATIENT STATISTICS
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Figures periaining to the number of patients seen in the various outpatient clinics
were obained from several sources. Since these cinis were under the changing aus-
pices of the College of Medicine, the U and now the
cal Asociates,during the period from 1917 to 1992, these are reported as Unitersicy of
Nebraska Medical Center Outpatient Statistics in Table 2. Figures pertaining to the




number of patients seen at the Dodge Street Dispensary were obtained for the years
1914 through 1920 excluding 1917 and 1918 from “The Pulse” 7 which at that time,
appareatly was a sulent pubfraton. There yere uo fgures nutlable in the hospial
record department undil 1932-33. A hand linic record ledger

ering the years 1950195 which were void for inpatient statistics as noted above. Subse-
quent to 1986 when the Clinical Practice Board and, later, University Medical Associ+
ates took over the operation of the clinics, the records were compiled in their offices.
‘There are still a few hospitak-sponsored clinics, and these records are kept by the hospi-
tal. Figures reported in Table 2 for 1991-92 represent a combination of these records so
asto produce a fig o ported in other years. A di he
various fators influencing these satsics e beyond the scope of this histarical review.
‘The fact that there has been a striking increase in outpatient services is documented in
Table 2.

'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA MEDICAL CENTER OUTPATIENT STATISTICS
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Abriefreview of the development of the Universiy of Nebraska Medical Center seems
appropriate in this history of the University of Nebraska Hospital. Even though the
Medical Center includes more than the hospital, the hospital s an essenial and neces-
sy gart ofthe enive Medical Center concept. Inthe invoductory portion of i
historyand in a number of other 4
the hospital and the College of Medicine have e dlscuscd and ill not be repeated
here. The construction of the Children’s Memorial Hospital to the west of the Univer-
sity Hospital across 44th Street in 1948, represented the first addition to the campus in
the development of what was to become the University of Nebraska Medical Center. It
remained a part of the campus unil 1981 when it moved to a new location in West
Omaha and the original campus buikling became he “Swanson Center” housing the
Swanson Center for Nutridon and a number of other Medical Center units

The earliest documented refercnce to the Medlcal Center concept which could be

in areportof “The Pulse”
in February, 1956 *2%9. As can be seen from the following, the concept at that time was
quite broad.

M

Center. Fi M!ma.ﬂhl }Advm’Mm ial Hospital he Nebrask
Bishop Clarkson Memarial Hosital...the Doctor’s
ry 1957, i

Hospital..., additions to Inmanuel Hospital..., and pending alterations in the
Lutheran Hospital. At the resent time cver $2,000,0001s availbl o the new
Children’s Centr
the land. These are all afflatd insttutions in whichthe aunes ave deced xu

otality a reginally inportant Medical Cente, for medical cae, teaching and.
research” .

A new nurses dormitory was included in the buildings to be funded by the 0.25 mill
levy . Ttwas to replace Conkling Hall which had served as a nurses residence since
1993 ©. The building was completed and dedicated in June, 1957 ®. It contained
classrooms as well as residence rooms and served s the administrative center of the
School of Nursing, later College of Nursing ®, uniil the new College of Nursing build-
ing on the eastside of 42nd street was completed and occupied in January, 1976 (4.
‘Dormitory space for nursing students had been discontinued prior to that fme.

Asnoted n the above Bulding Commitie Report,a number of addiions occurred
during thi Medical Center. The
Bishop Clarkson Memorial Hospital buikding vas completed and opened is doors De-




cember 16, 1955, The Nebraska Psychiatric Institute building was dedicated April 30,
1955 . The Institute was under the joint sponsorship of the Department of Public
Institutions and the University of Nebraska College of Medicine. In 1975, the University
of Nebraska Medical Center assumed complete control 49, On July 1, 1985, the Ne-
braska Psychiatric Institute was incorporated into the University Hospital ® and no
longer existed as a separate institute. As noted carlier in this section, most of the beds
for psychiatric patients were shifted to St. Joseph's Mental Health Center as of July, 1987.
The Geriatric Rehabilitation Unit and some geriatric psychiatric beds now occupy the
building, as well as 2 number of other Medical Center programs 9.

In the spring of 1957, construction of a Medical Center Mall was started. The City of
Omaha assumed the responsibiliy to finance the project, *..as a cooperative endeavor
and endorsement of the Medical Center as a valuable asset to the community” ®. This
involved making 44th Street, from Farnam to Dewey Avenue, ino two one-way streets
separated by a centralisland. It was opened with an official dedication on May 31, 1957
-,

Ground-breaking for what was called the “Children’s Rehabilitation Center” occurred
on December 20, 1956 ®. Actual construction did not begin uniil October, 1957 @,
There were three entities in this Center. The Hattie B. Monroe Home which opened
January, 1959 (. The Omnha Public Schools moved the Dr. .. Lord School for the

330 South 44th Streetin May of 1959, ™ and
the C. Lewis Meyer Thcxapy Center was opened also in 1959.

In May, 1960, the Eugene C. Eppley Foundation announced the avard of §2,500,000
grant to the University to be used for the creation of the Eugene C. Eppley Institute for
Research in Cancer and Allied Diseases. A building to house the Insitute was o be
built with a contribution of money from a U.S, Public Health Service Grant and from
the 0.25 mill levy building fund %, The building was completed and dedicated on
June 9, 1963 7. Subsequently, a furcher gift of $2,000,000 from the Eppley Foundz-
tion made possible the construction of another building to house a vivarium for animal
care and an area for teaching postgraduate medicine 2. This building was called,
“The Eppley Hal of Science” and was dedicated June 22, 1973 @,

The College of Pharmacy located on the Lincoln campus became aligned with the
Medical Center in 1972 when senior pharmacy students began their last year of training
at the Medical Center complex . Ultimately, State, Federal and private funds were
obtained and a College of Pharmacy building was constructed on the east side of 42nd.
Streetnext to the College of Nursing, * and the College of Pharmacy moved to Omaha.
‘The building was dedicated October 29, 1976 ¢,

In 1983, a proposal was made to, and accepted by, the Board of Regents for the
construction ofa two-lane road extending Emily Street from 45th Street to Saddle Creck.
Road. The road was to be funded by the City of Omaha, but the University Hospital and
the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute were to reimburse the city over a tensear period 0",




‘The extension was completed and opened December 17, 1984 0.

‘The new Outpatient Care Center and the addition of five floors to the Eppley Hall of
Science represent the most recent significant additions to the Medical Center (%9, The
Medical Center purchased the former Booth Memorial Hospital in 1990 ** and isusing
that building for administrative offices. In 1989, the Medical Center purchased a build-
ing at 38th Street and Devey Avenue to house the families of transplant patients .
‘The property was leased to the Children’s Transplant Association which renovated it
and runs it It opened as “Potter’s House” in June, 1991 ©*9. A Ronald McDonald
House to serve as a *home-away-from-home” for families of pediatric patients is under
construction at 38th & Jones Sireets on property leased from the Medical Center. The
facility will be used by all hospitals in Omaha 9.

Our present concept of the University of Nebraska Medical Center is not documented
asitwasin 1956. Therefore, it s ifficult to define that concept. Physically, the Medical
Center consists of the buildings on the campus belonging to the Universit, including
the University of Nebraska Hospital with the former Nebraska Psychiatric Insitute, the
Outpatient Care Center, The University Medical Associates building, Witison Hall with
the McGoogan Library, Poynter Hall, the South Laboratory building, the College of
Pharmacy, the College of Nursing, the Swanson Center, two parking structures, Conkling
Hall the Specialty Services Pavilion, the Shackleford Laboratory building, the Laundry
and Bookstore. The Hattie B. Monroe Home, Meyer Rehabilitation Instiute, J.P. Lord
School and Clarkson Hospital are on the UNMC campus but not owned or under direct
control of the University. However, they are geographically present and varyingly close
relationships exist with the University causing them to be perceived by some as a partof
the Medical Center. In addition, directly on th ha
the former Booth Memorial Hospital, the building housing the Ophthalmology Depart-
mentand Clinic, the Fitness Center and University Hospital East which are considered
part of the Medical Center. Lasty, there i the College of Dentistry at Lincoln which is
under the jurisdiction of the Chancellor and is considered part of the Medical Center
even though itis not in the same city.

Asto the University of Nebraska Hospital, its mission has changed significandy in the
75 years from 1917 to 1992as reflected i its Mission Statementin 1991. “The University
of Nebraska Hospitalsands commited to providing the highest quality patient care
and environment for health, service, education and researc
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Deans who served as

Superintendents of the Hospital

Irving S. Cuttes MD.

J. Perry Tollman, MD.

Harold C. Luth, MD. ], Jay Keagan, MD.

CWM. Poynter Ceail L. Wittson, MD. !J:




ADMINISTRATION AND GOVERNANCE

The University of Nebraska Hospital always has been, and stil s, a component of the
University of Nebraska system. As such, it s under the control of the University of Ne-
braska Board of Regents which has the ultimate responsibility for budget, capital
improvement and general policy. However, the Board is not directly involved with
management.

Responsibility for managing the hospital has undergone a number of changes in the
course of 75 years. When the hospital opened its doors September 3, 1917, it was an
extension ofthe College of Medicine, and the Dean was the Hospital Superintendent

and dyand forits dayoday

ment continued unil 1969. Table 3 liss the Deans who served in this capacity. In
January, 1953, Mr. Duane Johnson was appointed the first Hospital Administrator .
However, Dean Perry Tollman remained as Hospital Superintendent and Mr. Johnson
reported to him. In 1962, Mr Johnson resigned, and Mr. Edwin F. Ross was appointed

Dr. Tollman until Dr. Cecil L. Witison became Dean of the College of Medicine and
Superintendent of the University of Nebraska Hospital on September 1, 1964 ®'9, M.
Rossresigned in December, 1965, to accepta position in Cleveland,  and Mr. Richard
. Schripsema was appointed Hospital Administrator effective February 1, 1966 0%,

DEANS OF THE COLLEGE OF MEDICINE AND
SUPERINTENDENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL

Irving 5. Cutter, M.D. 1917-1925
1.Jay Keegan, M.D. 19251929
CWM. Poynter, MD. 1929-1046
Harcld C. Lucth, M.D. 19461952
J. Perry Tollman, MD. 19521964
el L. Witson, M.D. 1964-1969
TABLE3 y
Hospitl. In 1969, Dr. hancelloc of
ibsequent

dirctly, and the Dean no longer served a superintendent.

ries of ithin the Us ity m and the
Medical Center significantly affected the position of Hospital Administrator. In March,
1968, Dr. Wittson became President of the University of Nebraska Medical Center and



Hospital Administrators

Duane Johnson

EduinF. Ross




Dean of the College of Medicine . This came about as a result of administrative
changes in the university secondary to the addition of the former University of Omaha
as an administrative unit of the University of Nebraska 0. In December, 1968, Dr.
Robert Dean of the College of Dr. Wittson
along with other administrative units within the Medical Center **). However, the Hos-
pital Adminisurator still eported to the Dean of the College of Medicine. In 1969,

further the Hospital o
the President of the Medical Center and he no longer rcpcrud to Lh: Dean, Richard
ripsema, atthat time, T i
Finance for the Medical Center,as well as Hospital Admmuualm
Further e chief!

officerat the Medical Center and the other two main universiy subdmsxens becoming
Chancellors and the chief administrative officer of the University becoming President
@, Dr. Wittson retired as Chancellor on February 1, 1972, and Dr. Harry McFadden
became Interim Chancellor. In July, 1972, Dr. Robert Sparks became Chancellor of the
University of Nebraska Medical Center. In late 1972, Mr. Schripsema’s title became
Vice-Chancellor and Director of Health Services Administration . In 1974, Mr.
Schnpsc'ma resigned o accepta positon in Michigan (*. Following tis, the Chancel-
lor: Mr. terim Hospi-

tal Administrator, and Mr. Thomas Smith was appointed Interim Director of Business
and Finance ™), This marked the beginning of the separation of the two positions.
This became complete in November, 1974, ..in response to a mandate from the Board
of Regents” 0. Mr. Dougla Peters vas recuited and appointed Hospital Administra-
or effecti 115, 1974049, and Mr. T

tor of Business and Financial Administration in November, 1974 4,

Dr. Sparks resigned in September, 1976, to take a position with the Kellogg Founda-
tion, and Dr. Harry McFadden, again, became Interim Chancellor. Dr. Neal Vanslow
became Chancellor of the Medical Center in July, 1977. Mr. Peters resigned in late 1977
10 accept a position in Detroit, Michigan, and Robert . Baker became Director of the
Uniersty of Nebraska Hospia ffctve November 1, 1977 . An mportant changt

<ecion on MedicalSaf,InSepterber, 197, the Board of Regents csmblLshedaerd
of Governors of the University of Nebraska Hospital and Clinic and the Nebraska Psychi-
aricInsiute 9. The Regent’ delegatedt th Board of Govenors the responsvly

10 increase compliancewith applicable Federal and Siate Lavs and regulaions and

the Joint C of]

prate acion i all matters involing the quaity of patient care..” Subscquentl, the
Hospital Director worked more closely with the Board of Governors than he had presi-
ously with the Board of Regents. The Regents' retained control over budget and capital
expenditures through the University, Chancellor, and Medical Center. The Board of




Governors consisted of nine members. Five were from the Medical Center: the Chan-
cellor, the Directors of the University Hospital and the Nebraska Psychiauic Institute,
the Dean of the College of Medicine and the Chief of the Medical Staff. There were
four members from the community approved by the Board of Regents after receiving
the recommendation of the President of the University and the Chancellor of the Medi-
cal Genter. The first four members were: Sharon Marvin, George L. Mazinek, JamesR.
Gibson Jr., all of Omaha, and Donald A. Treadsway of Fullerton %9,

Mr. Baker served until 1986 when he resigned to accepta position in Chicago, llinois
(%), Mr, Brent Stevenson became Hospital Director in May, 1987, % having served as
Interim Director since Mr. Baker's departure. He resigned in 1989 to accept a position
in San Francisco, California ™). Mr. C. Edward Schwartz, the present Hospital Director,
was appointed effective January 1, 1990 (4%, Table 4 lsts the administrators of the Uni-
versity of Nebraska Hospital from 1953 to the present.

ADMINISTRATORS
OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL
Duane Johnson 1953-1962
Edwin F. Ross 1962-1966
Richard C. Schripsema~ 1966-1974
Douglas Peters 1974-1977
Robert J. Baker 1977-1986
Brent Stevenson 1986-1989
Edward Schwartz 1989-

TABLE4  Eachof these men scrved as Administator of University of Nebraska Hospial. Their tes changed

Exccuive

Further changesi i occurred since Mr. over. In
September, ) plans for i i

ur i the firm FGI 5, ion undera
ten member steering commitiee occurred over several months. The position of Hospi-
‘al Director, now called Chief Executive Officer (CEO), was to be refocused so that the
CEO would spend more time developing relationships with external groups and ad-
dressing issues of broad interest to the hospital. This called for the creation of a new
position, a Chief Operating Officer ), to whom all hospital services would report, and
the COO would report directly to the CEO. Donna Katen-Bahensky was named acting
COO.  Subsequently, the Board of Regents approved her appointment as the Chief
Operating Officer of the University of Nebraska Hospital 9.

%



focus of the hospital's trategic plan and the cultural changes needed 10 achieve its vision.



The new organization was (o enable the hospita, ..o make the internal changes
necessary 10 support i vison of satifying customers through continualy improving
services.” The Hospital wanted to become, a patient focused organization” 07 and
structure its clinical activity around service lines. The details of the organization can be
seen in the organizational chart. Under the new structure all operational positions
directly report to the Chief Operating Officer, The Chief Nursing Officer reports di-
rectlyto the Chief Executive Officer. Because of the ongoing changes in health care, the
administration will continue to evaluate and update the administrative structure.



HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL STAFF REIMBURSEMENT

‘The Regents' Rules governing the University Hospital in 1917, stated: “The hospital
of the University of Nebraska in Omaha s not founded with the idea of receiving pa-
tients who are able to pay for special medical and surgical care” 0%, The hospital was
funded virually entiel by appropriation from the legilatur through the Universy
These funds were not for the hospital. The l

ated money to the University of Nebraska upon request of the Board of Regents. A
portion of that money was allocated to the College of Medicine and the hospital was a
part of the college’s budget.

‘The number of patients to be admitted was allocated by county, *.allotment of hospi-
tal days is based on the census of Nebraska of 1910 and is prorated among the counties
according to popultion;consdersble advantage being given t less populous countis

from n, act propor
notused, *..o that the greatest good to all would be received.
use its assigned days, they could be used by other counties.

A patient’s contribution toward financing his or her care was taken into consider-
ation. Article VII of Regents Rules governing University Hospital stated: “Patients must

with them toreach p o provide
for thei return home” 09 Supposedly, this money could come from the county Wel-
fare Department. Patients who were not “cstablished county charges” were expected to
pay at least the cost of board and nursing which was established at §2.50 per day in 1917
and had risen to $3.00 per day in 1925,

An aricle by Marguerite Godsey in the “Nebraska Alumnus” in 1931 ® reported that
2 thorough assessment of a patient’s ability to pay was carried out at the time of admis-
sion, but no patient was refused admission because of inability o pay. However, Re-
gents’ Rules by this time specified that patients having earning capacity or responsible
relatives would be adrmitted only upon payment of a fee to cover in part the cost of board
and nursing. The rate charged should be such as the hospital authorities deemed rea-
sonable for the patient to pay. The rate at that ime was $1.00 per day for children up to
age 4, $1.50 from 4 through 10 years of age, and $2.00 per day for adults with the excep-
tion that obstetrical patients were charged $2.50 per day. Income levels listed in the
aricle were those, *..accepted by creditable social agencies in the Midwest..” A patient
or family with an income exceeding these levels, *..should be able to provide medical
services” . There were a number of exceptions discussed which could modify deci-
sions based on the designated income levels.

At that time, the hospital was facing a deficit as pointed out by Dean C.WM. Poynter
during an address to the Lions Club. The hospital was filled to capacity and, according
to the Dean, was serving, 2 greatly increased number of applicants for free drugs and
treatment” . According to information provided by Dr. Edward Holyoke, Dean Poynter

. 12 county did not




reduced the open bedsin the hospital when the hospital budget was cut. As late as 1963,
the actual number of open! beds was 144 0%

Little chang  or income from p: during the 40's and
early50. In the 195455 fca year, state general moneys provided 97% of the hospital
budget and 3% came from self-support . In late 1936, Dean .2 Tollman announced
the temporary closing of wards A and B, “Rising costs of operation, and more active
hospital services have increased our spending rate. Since we have a fixed budget, it will
be necessary to reduce hospital operations” . Apparently, a little money was derived
from counties, especially Douglas County which was paying for the care of some of its
patients. The amount of money collected from direct charges to patients was probably

t. H time vent
other than state appropriations since by fiscal year 1960-61, 13.4% of the hospital budget
came from selfsupport ),

By 1963, the hospital was beginning to collect more patient revenue 17, and on No-
vember 1, 1964 the hospital adopted an “Abiliy to Pay Schedule” ", Ttwas based on an
individual patient’s gross income and number in the family and applied to Nebraska
residents only. Individuals living outside the state were expect:d o pay full hospital
rates. An example from the sc $240
and four children was expected to pay 20% of the smndard inpatient hospital rate.
Outpatient charges were dismissed, but the patient was expected to pay for drugs 9.
Further changes occurred in November, 1965, when the Board of Regents changed its
rules relating t0 the hospial and removed the previous $4.00.a day limit on charges to

the care of o the hospi . Other

changes were made which allowed the hospital to officially accept paying patients, thus,

removing obstacles to the hospital's participation in Medicare. In April, 1967, the hospi-

tal discontinued its allinclusive single daily rate and introduced itemized billing. This

in order t¢ red for in

Medicare. The total charges vere not aiered and the Abilty to Pay Schedule remained
in effect (27,

Around i Center iting a full-time clini-
cal faculty under Dr. Cecil Wittson, as College of Medicine Dean and, subsequently, a
UNMC Chancellor, This created the need for a more diversificd patient population

e Uni

within the h: the
strietly indigent care facility. Chan anges in the methods of reimbursement for both the
hospital and the staff were occurring. Although, in many respects, these were interde-
pendent, they had to proceed largely independently and will be discussed separately in
thissection of the hospital's history.

Following the changes in 1965, which permitted the hospital's participation in Medi-
care, participation in the Blue Cross Plan occurred in 1966, and in 1967 the hospital
staff gained approval for participation in the Blue Shield Plan 1®, Other insurers




followed in a relatively short time period. With the opening of Unit 4 in 1969, private
and semiprivate rooms replaced the wards. This, plus an increasingly diverse fullime
clinical faculty, led to the admission of more and more private patients. Hospital room
rates began (0 change. In January, 1967, the Board of Regent's approved new rates:
private rooms $30.00 per day, semiprivate $26.00 per day, ward $24.00 per day (essen-
tially Pediatrics) and intensive care §45.00 per day 120, By September, 1969, the rates
had increased to $47.00 per day for private rooms, $42.00 for semiprivate, §37.00 for
ward and $85.00 per day for intensive care. Clinical visits were raised to $5.00 0.
Although these rates may seem a far cry from today's, they were even further from the
rates of 1917. Many economic and social changes not under control of the hospital
influenced these differences, and further discussion of room rate charges does not
appear pertinent to this history.

In 1975, the Nebraska State Legislature directed that the hospital become increas-
ingly selfsufficient and fund clinical equipment requirements from patient-generated
revenue, The state was to cover only those expenses associated with indigent care and
also provide support for expenses associated with health science education 7. From
1975 to 1981, the level of state support decreased by two million dollars and the cost of
indigent care rose by two million dollars. At that time, 13% of the care provided by the
University Hospital went to those unable to pay ™. Accordingly, in April, 1981, the
Board of Regents placed restrictions on indigent care. Indigent patients who were not
residents of Nebraska would not be admitted except for emergency conditions. As of
October, 1981, all non-emergent indigent Nebraska residents had o  obian wrien
thorization from their uch
had to meet hospital admission policies which included a down1;uavmem am,

Throughout the period from 1981 to 1992, the percent of general fundsn relation to
total hospital todecrease. In 19818
t0 4% of the total hospital budget, whereas,in 1991-92 it amounted to only 1.4%. In the
75 years from 1917 (0 1992, the University of Nebraska hospital went from an institution
totally supported by the State to an institution which was 98.6% self-supporting 1.

As noted previously, the recruitment of fulltime clinical faculty and the advent of
private patients at the University Hospital also raised issues pertaining (o professional
fee reimbursement. Historically, when the hospital opened in 1917, the Regents’ Rules
of Governance " referring t0 the staff stated, “These men receive no compensation
from the state, and are not permitted by Regents’ rules (o receive remuneration from
the patients in the University Hospital’. Some changes in Regents' Rules occurred
subsequently since an article by Dr. ] . Keegan in the Nebraska State Medical Journal
in 1927 cited the following in the final paragraph of Aricle II of the Regents’ Rules,
“Emergency cases requiring immediate attention will be admitted regardless of finan-
cial status or application and charged private patient rates if they want to pay for profes-
sional services.” Also, in Article IV, the following statement appeared, “No member of

2



the hospital staffshal receive compensation fo professional services from any hospital
patient, unless especially authorized by " (1).

Since,a that ime,the entire hosptalstaff consisted of voluntary facul:y engagedin
private p: de the U
these provisions. With the advent of the firstfulltime clinical fz(uln 1955, the follow
ing statement was considered and passed at a gencral faculty meeting on December 2,
1958 49,

“Conversation with department chairmen developed these ideas with reference to the
status of full-time people to be added to the Clinical Departments.

The term full-time for these clinical faculty members carries with it the privilege of
spending 1/6 time, based on the 44 hour week, for consultation-type practice. Consul-
tation-type practice indicates that these faculty members will see only patients referred
to them by other physicians. These staff members are to be urged to see such patients
whenever possible with the referring physician. Where this cannot be accomplished,
the man is to be urged to see the patient at one of the affiliated hospitals, although itis
recognized that some patienis may be seen at thei offices a the University Hospital,
part be provided. It
that in some situations, the faculty member may supervise the care of the referred pa-
tients in one of the affiliated hospitals. The income derived from this consultation-ype
pracice is the responsibility of the individual and is not a matter of official recognition
by the University.

These fullime faculty members will have no pnvxlege of admxmng patients to the
University Hospital not accorded any other faculty mem
In the rules and f the first medical staff in 1956, item num-
ber 4 states, “When a patient is found to be able to pay for his services, the Dean may
amhonm xhe attending physician to present a bill for his services, as provided in the
Regents’ Rules”,

Thcsc various changes made it obvious that some patients in the University Hospital
could be charged 2 professional fee and that full-ime faculty members could charge a
professional fee for services, but these two facts were not necessarily mutually inclusive.
As noted earlier, the hospital began to collect patient revenues in 1963 O™ but these
rarely came from private patients. Until Unit 4 was opened in 1969, the hospital facili-
ties were not adequate. There were one or two private rooms at the end of most wards,
but these were usually used for severely ill or contagious patients. However, some pri-
vate patients were occasionally admitted to the University Hospital according to Dr.
Frederick Paustian who joined the faculty in 1958,

Under these circumstances, there was no specific University or Medical Center plan
regarding professional fees or private patients in the 1960's as the fullime faculty be-
gan to increase. Some of the new faculty were considered strict full-time and were paid
asalary. Anymoney they received for professional services was usually returned to their




respective departments. A number of other new faculty retained the professional fees
generated from treatment of patients under the aegis of the 1953 policy referred to
carlier *,

It became apparent thatsome type of olicy was needed. Dr. Witson appointed an

Dr. Frederick Paustian, Dr. William Wilson, and Dr. John
]oncs to develop a “medical service plan” which would address the issues of income.
from patientrelated services and clinical faculty compensation. A plan was developed
which was approved by the clinical faculty on March 4, 1971 and the Board of chcms
on August 7, 1971 0, Tt establshed the Universit of Nebraska Clinicians Group, .
nonprofit, association fz“ﬁ\”»
time clinical faculty participating ip of all part-ime and those
voluntary clinical faculty members who render patient diagnosis, care and supervision
at the University of Nebraska Medical Center” (),

Each clinical faculty member was to have a Terms of Employment Agreement with
the Universiy of Nebraska College of Medicine which was to be renewable or renegoti-
ated annually vith the department chairman subject to approval by the Dean. The
agreement specified the source of honoraria,

y approved institutional ips and professional service fees, and the
amount of salary including related fringe benefits. A current strict fullime faculty
member could elct o remin n that satus. Other fullime cinical faculy members
could b graphic full-ime. The th
fullime, partzime or volunteer, were defined i the plan. I pracice,the plan’s povi
sions with respect to professional service income applied to the fullime faculty and a
few of the parttime.

The plan called for the establishment of a Professional Fees Office by the Nebraska
Clinicians Group for the purpose of billing, collecting and disbursing professional ser-
vice fees generated by the members of the group in accordance with the provisions of
the plan. The Professional Fees Office was to be a distinct agency, incorporated and
nonprofit with officers and a board of directors appointed by the Executive Committce
of the Clinicians Group. Its' Articles of Incorporation were filed and recorded in the
office of the Secretary of State of the State of Nebraska June 1, 1971 (2).

‘The Professional Fees Office was to be supervised by the Executive Committee of the
Clinicians Group through a Board of Directors. The Executive Committee was spelled
outin the Medical Service Plan. It was to consist of the following:

~Three members from a medicall oriented specialty
~Three members from a surgically oriented specialty
-One member from Pathology

-One member from Radiology

~The Dean of the College of Medicine ex-officio



The departments in the medically and surgically oriented specialities were listed in
the plan. Members of the committee were elected by the voting members of the Clini-
cians Group. Terms of office were to be two years beginning September Ist of each year.
Four new members were to be elected each odd numbered year and four each even
numbered year, A chairman was elected by the Executive Committee members at the
first meeting in September. The commitiee was to meet at least quarterly.

In the plan, professional medical service fees were defined s, *..those charges for
‘medical care given directly to patients by a specific member of the clinical faculty.” Fees
charged to non-referred patients - those referred to the Medical Center not directlyto.a
physician - were assigned to the University of Nebraska Clinicians Group. Fees charged
t0a referred patient - those referred to a specific clinical faculty member - were to be
disbursed to that individual member.

A Medical Center “Use of Facilities Fee” was to be charged each patient for medical
care received in facilities under the jurisdiction of the University of Nebraska Medical
Center. This applied to outpatient services. Fees could be charged directly to the pa-
tient and billed and collected by the Patient Accounting Office of the hospital, or the
fee could be indirectly charged through the physician in which case the physician and/
or his department would pay the fee to the hospital

All professional service fees were billed and collected by the Professional Fees Office.
These were deposited in a Prafcsslonal Fce Clea.nng Fund maintained by the Profes-
sional Fees Office. ad
from the Clearing Fund and prorated mommg ‘o the amount of fees collected among
the departments, sections and clinicians using the Professional Fees Office services.

After payment of Professional Fee Office expenses, setting aside a reserve fund to
ensure the payment to the resp member
those fees collected for referred patients, the assigned fees (those from non-referred
patients) were to be transferred to the University of Nebraska Medical Center Clinicians
Fund. This was a separate account administered by the Executive Committee. From
this Fund, payments were made to d division or section fund:
prorated on the basis of the respective funds generated, plus a payment to the College
of Medicine Development Fund.

Atthe time tha the Plan was approved, the amounts to be allocated were 70% to the
department, division or 30% to the College of Medicine

Fund. The llocated to fund:
could be used for two purposes: 1) Professional fee income which was paid to certain
faculty members of the department as agreed t0 in their Terms of Employment Agree-
ment; 2) Academic development wherein such money could be used for a number of
educational, research and office expenses spelled out i the plan. Additional moneys
from these development funds could be allocated to certain fringe benefits in support




of the fulltime physician members of the group. These fringe benefits encompassed
such things as insurance programs, recirement, professional society dues and even edu-
cational benefits for dependents.

“This plan was perceived to have a number of problems by the Board of Regents and
the University Administration. Accordingly,a Task Force on the Medical Service Plan,
consisting of Howard Neville from Central University Administration, as Chairman, and
Drs. Frederick Paustian, Francis Land and Dean Robert Kugel met'in 1973, The task
force considered three prime subjects: 1) disclosure of the amount of income received
by full-ime clinicians from clinical practice at UNMC administered facilities; 2) the in-
clusion of all or part of the clinical practice at UNMC administered facilities within the
Medical Service Plan, and 3) the administration of the Professional Fees Ofice.
amended plan in August, 1973, but because of
lems further modifications were made and the new plan was finally approved by the
Medical Center clinicians on June 27, 1974 and by the Board of Regents on June 29,
1974 0%,

The new plan had several significant changes. Personal income from professional
fees of fullime clinicians was to be reported annually as confidential information by
income ranges with a statement s to the number of persons receiving income in each
range to the Dean of the College of Medicine, the Chancellor of the Medical Center, the
President of the University and the Executive Committee of the Board of Regents. Dis-
closure of income from professional services rendered by individual full-time clinical
faculty members was to be reported to the Dean, the Chancellor and the President of
the University but not to the Board of Regents. With respect to the Professional Fees
Office, it was made more clear that the ultimate authority for policies of the Nebraska
Clinicians Group and the Professonal Fees Officeresided inthe Board of Regents. The

-ime cli the Medical Center was
recognized, and it was specified that these “subunits” must adhere (o the Medical Ser-
vice Plan and submit fiscal information as directed by the Plan. Creation of any new
“subunits” would need approval of the Executive Committee of the Nebraska Clinicians
Group, the Dean of the College of Medicine, the Chancellor of the Medical Center and
the Board of Regents. Under this new plan, the clinical practice of fullime clinicians
was more closely controlled with respect to the amount of income, practice within the
Medical Center and approved methods for practice outside of the Medical Center.

Although this plan was a significant improvement, as time went on some members of
the Board of Regents still perceived problems. When Dr. Neal Vanslow became Chancel-
lor of the Medical Center, he appointed a new commitiee chaired by Dr. Miles Skultety
10 review and revise the Medical Service Plan. The revised plan was approved by the
Nebraska Clinician Group members on February 9, 1978 and by the Board of Regents
on February 18, 1978 151,

Under this new plan, membership of the Nebraska Clinicians Group consisted of
voting fulltime members and nonvoting parttime and volunteer members who ren-

£



dered patient diagnosis and care at the University of Nebraska Medical Center. Full-
asthose, . tivii
conducted under the direction and with the approval of the department or division
chairman or insdtution director and for which appropriate salaried remuneration is
received.” A part-time member was defined as one, a portion of whose professionally
related activities was conducted under the direction and approval of the Dean et al, as

above, ‘Avolunteer mem-

ber was defined as one, a portion of wh i activity ducted,

as noted above for part-ime but for which no salaried remuneration was received.
Both the Terms of \greement and the i ibject to the plan were

defined in detail. Professional service fees were defined as, *..those charges for care
given to patients by a specific member of the clinical faculty who will charge a fee for his
or her services.” The Plan specified that al patients admitted to the University of Ne-
braska Medical Center facilities would be private patients except for those admitied
under special contracts. All patients were to have an identified attending physician. All
professional service fees for full-ime clinicians were to be billed and collected by the
Professional Fees Office. With respect to part-ime faculty members, the Terms of Em-
ployment Agreement would specify what portion of patient related charges must be
billed through the Professional Fees Office. In addition to operating expenses of the
Professional Fees Office, which were deducted prior to the time of distribution of any
‘moneys among individual plan members, certain professional practice expenses could
be deducted. These included fees for a Nebraska medical license and federal controlled
substance license, medical staff dues, and medical professional liability insurance pre-
‘miums.
Afier deduction of allowed costs, the funds were to be distributed as follows:

Between 60%-75% to the physician who generated the income. The upper and
Tower limits were specifically set. For an individual physician, these limits were to
be determined and specified within the Terms of Employment Agreement.

2. Twenty percent to respective department or division development funds.
3. Five percent to the College of Medicine Development Fund.
4, If the member received less than 75%, the remaining amount was to be divided,

with 75% o the Department Development Fund and 25% to the College of Medi-
cine Development Fund.

‘The disbursement of pmfcsslonal service fee income from the few remammgoumdc
offices was spelled out as o all penses, reporting the distri-
bution of money after expcnscs in the same manner as noted above.

Allovances vere made for the development of medical praciice unts such as profes-
sional other
of fees (0 and by such entities was spelled out.




In this new plan, the disclosure of professionally derived income to the administra-
tion remained essentially the same as it had been in the previous plan. The new plan
‘made it clear that billing for professionally related services by fulltime members was to
be done through the Professional Fees Office regardless of the location at which the
services were rendered. It also indicated that all branch billing offices (outside offices)
were 10 abolished, howeer, there was a grandfather clause. This excepted fullime
faculty members emplmed by the Lmversny prior to july 1, 1977 ho maintained .
ate an

established.

The makeup of the Executive Committee of the Nebraska Clinicians Group was
changed to consist of three department or division chairmen, one from each of three
categories which were designated as medically oriented, surgically oriented and other.
The latter consisted of Anesthesiology, Pathology and Radiology. The departments or
divisions in the first two categories were specified with provisions for change if any de-
parment or division were added or deleted from the College of Medicine. In additio
10 the three chairmen, there were o be five non-chairman members, two each from
medically and surgically oriented specialties and one from the other. The Dean of the
College of Medicine was a member ex-officio. All members except for the Dean were
elected and each was o serve two years with staggered terms.

An Arbitration Committee was specified which was to have final jurisdiction to adjudi-
cate disputes over interpretation of the plan and charges of noncompliance if these
‘matters could not be resolved informally.

The uses and disribuion of department or division development funds was ot
changed hatwas pi d,
income.” This vas abolished as such and replaced by  category called, “salary supple-
ment.” Under this heading, it was indicated that the Dean and the department or divi-
sion chairman could supplement income of an individual plan member from develop-
‘ment funds. Such supplements were to be in addition to state salary and the members
pro rated professional service fees. Such supplements were o be agreed upon in the
Terms of Employment Agreement and subject to the same university approval proce-
dures as salary paid from other university sources.

The Medical Service Plan essentially established a group pracice of geographic full-
time physicians at the University of Nebraska Hospital. Both the hospital and the staff
had now developed systems in keeping with the rest of the community for appropriate
reimbursement for services rendered. No further significant changes occurred until
1986 when the University Hospital elected to discontinue the maintenance of hospital
outpatient clinic facilities and turned these services over to the clinical faculty. A Clini-
cal Practice Board (CPB) was established at that time, *..to coordinate and govern the
clinical practice affairs of the College of Medicine clinical faculty including, but not




limited to, management of ambulatory care programs and entering into contracts for
patient care related services,..” ®. In essence, the CPB took over the management of,
and financial responsibility for, most of the outpatient clinics both on and off the cam-
pus. A few have remained under hospital management.

‘The Clinical Practice Board consisted of all of the College of Medicine clinical depart-
ment chairmen, the Ambulatory Care Medical Director, the Chief of the Hospital Medi-
cal Staf, the Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs who acted as chairman, the five non-
chairman members of the Nebraska Clinicians Group Executive Comittee, the Dean
of the College of Medicine, without vote, and the Hospital Director, also without vote.

An Executive Committee was established which consisted of two representatives of
medically or
and one representative of the other clinical departments. Allfive members were from
the Clinical Practice Board and were elected by the Board. In addition, two of the five
non-chairmen Nebraska Clinician Group members of the GPB were to be appointed to
the Executive Committee by the Nebraska Clinicians Group Executive Committee. The
Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs was a member of the Committee and served as chair-
man. The Dean, Hospial Director, Medical Director, and Executive Director of the CPB

ote. Th each of
the three categories were lsted in the bylaws, and provisions were made for changes
where departments were added or deleted by the College of Medicine.

In a unique arrangement, the bylaws specified that the Associate Dean for Clinical
‘Affairs was to be elected by the Clinical Practice Board. An individual or a list o indi-
viduals was to be nominated by the GPB Executive Committee. The Dean of the College
of Medicine had the right to approve all nominees prior to election, but the Dean no
longer had the right to appoint an Associate Dean for Clinical Afairs. However, an
individual could be removed during his or her term at any time by the Dean or by a two-
thirds majority vote of all members of the Clinical Practice Board. The Associate Dean
fur Clinical Affairs would serve for a three year term and could be reelected to successive

An Ambulatory Affairs Comittee was established within the Clinical Practice Board,

.o ensur fthe d the ambula-
lorycarepmgrams." ip consisted of one physician clini from each
departmentwith at y care practice i from

Pathology and Radiology, the Ambulatory Care Medical Director who was o be Chair-
‘man, the Executive Director, the Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs and any other mem-
bers of CPB management deemed appropriate by the Board. The department chair-
men appointed the physician clinic managers who would represent their departments.
The Ambulatory Care Medical Director was appointed by the Clinical Practice Board by
2 majority vote from candidates nominated by the Executive Committee. The director
served for 2 term of two years and could serve successive two terms.



‘The Clinical Practice Board hired an Executive Director to manage the business and
financialaffairs of the Board. The director reported to the Executive Committee through
the Associate Dean for Clinical Affars.

As noted, the Clinical Practice Board was organized mainly to run the outpatient
services for the clinical faculty. The Nebraska Clinicians Group remained as the fiscal
organization of the faculty and its Professional Fees Office was sill responsible for the
billing, collection and distribution of all professional fees whether tollected for inpa-
tient or outpatient services.

When the Clinical Practice Board started, the extant Associate Dean for Clinical Af-
fairs, Dr. Charles Dobry, was elected to that position under the board's bylaws. He had
originally been appointed by the Dean of the College of Medicine and also had been
elected to serve as Chief of the Hospital Medical Staff under s bylaws. After two years,
the position of Chief of Staff and Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs were separated,
since another individual, Dr. James Newland, was elected Chief of Staff.

, and Mr. Andy McDonald, who
had served as a consultant at the time of the original organization o the Clinical Prac-
tice Board, was called in to help Ulimately,

and the name of the group was changed effective March, 1993 9. The name, “Univer-
sity Medical Associates” (UMA) was adopted and the significant bylaws changes were as
follows. The membership of the University Medical Associates’ Executive Commitiee
consised ofthe Associae Dean for Clinical Afirs an the members of the Nebraska
Clinici in the Medical Service Plan. This
established a smgle governing organization for both groups. The Associate Dean for
lncal Affire vas gai appointe b the Dean of th Collge o Medicne and served
asthe Universit Dr.Ward

0 this position.

AClinical Chairs Advisory Comittee was established. It reported to the Dean of the
College of Medicine and, *..is to advise the Dean on policy matters regarding the pa-
et care programs, nchndingthel necrlationghipvith (ez(hlng and research pro-
grams. The &
the UMA Executive Commitee and make recommendations t the Dean on medical
praciice-related matters impacting multiple clinical departments.” Membership con-
sisied of all College of Medicine clinical department chairs, the Associate Dean for Clini-
cal Affairs and the Dean of the College of Medicine. The Dean or a designee acted as
Chairman of the Commitee.

‘The Ambulatory Care Committee was unchanged except that the position of Ambu-
latory Care Medical Director was eliminated and the chair of the Committee was to be
appointed by the UMA Medical Director. Also, this Committee and the Medical Staff
Ambulatory Affairs Commitice, were one and the same, establishing an appropriate
coordination between the Hospital Medical Staff and the University Medical Associates.

Anumber of other




‘The UMA Medical Director//Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs was appointed by the
Dean of the College of Medicine after consuliation with the UMA Executive Committee
and the Clinical Chairs Advisory Committee. The Director's duties, among others, in-
cluded serving as the University Medical Associate’s liaison with the Dean, Hospital Di-
rector, and clinical departments to resolve matters related to the development of an
efrecuve patient care dehvery system; oversecmg daywdaw acuvnues Of the Chief Ad-

ive Officer and pro-
viding oversight and direction to Ambulatory Care Committee Chair and identifying
clinical practice policy issues and seeking decisions from the appropriate physicians or
committees as necessar

Th position consisted of a Chief Admint Officer who managed
the business and financial affairs of not only the University Medical Associates, but also
of the Nebraska Clinicians Group Professional Fees Office.

The present organization reduces the number of independent groups influencing
the fiscal and patient care delivery aspects of faculty medical practice and significantly
increases the efficiency of the entire operation.




MEDICAL STAFF ORGANIZATION

In September, 1917, the University of Nebraska Hospital medical staff consisted en-
tirely of volunteer clinical faculty members of the College of Medicine. The Bulletin of
the University of Nebraska of August, 1917, ®® designated 52 medical staff positions:
Department of Internal Medicine 11, Pediatrics 4, Dermatology and Syphilology 2, Neu-
rology and Psychiatry 2, Radiology , Surgery 10, Ophthalmology and Otology 6,
¥2, Urology 1, Obstetrics 2, Pathology

5. Except for changesin the individuals filling the various positons, no other significant
changes occurred in the medical staff for a number of years, however, it proved impos-
sible to document actual numbers. No College of Medicine or Hospital records regard-
ing staff numbers could be found after a reasonably diligent search. A copy of the
“Annual Report of the Hospital and Dispensary” of November 15, 1930 was located (1).
‘This listed the clinical faculty and staff by name. From the terms used it was not possible:
10 determine for certain if individuals were or were not members of the hospital staff.
Th listed in clinical i

which permitted an assumption that they were members of the hospital attending staff.
There were also an additional seven individuals listed as “clinical assistants” or “assis
tanis”. Whether or not they were members of the hospital attending staff could not be
documented further.

In a copy of the *Pulse” of February 20, 1959, 1% an article on faculty reported 293
individuals who were, *..volunteers at no cost to the State.” The article went on to say,
“The majority of volunteers are physicians who give their tme to the clinical teaching
and supervision of students at University Hospital and the 11 affiliated hospital and care
facilities in Omaha and Lincoln.” Itis likely that only 2 small percentage of these indi-
viduals were actual sff members at University Hospital.

‘The first full-ime clinical faculty occurred in 1953, when
Dr.RobertGrisiom was appointed Asocite Professo of Inernal Medicine ®. In Sep-
tember 1954, throe more Fll e il fuculty weresppoiated #, Thesevere D

Roy G. Holley - Professor of Ol 5, Dr. Gordon E.
Professor of Pediatrics, and Dr. Merle M. Muss:l.man orie Priesor of Surgery.
The full- Psychiatric Instis about the

same time, however, it was not a part of the University Hospital and the two staffs were
independent. About the mid 1960's the number of fulltime clinical faculty began to
increase rapidly, hoverer, no records could be found to document numbers.

Th ‘hospital staff
‘membership starting with the year July 1, 1976 to June 30, 1977 and beyond. In that year
there were 184 active staff, 147 associate staff, and 203 consulting staff, for a total of 534.
One can assume that a significant number of the active staff were full-time clinical fac-
ulty members. The actual figures were not available. All or virtually all of the associate




and consulting staff members can be assumed to have been volunteer. In 1977-78, the
figures were 225 active, 163 associate and 209 consulting, for a total of 597.

Figures for the years 1979 through 1987 document only the numbers of active staff
members. Extensive significant changes in the organization of the medical staff with
consequent changes in the bylaws occurred during 1980, These are discussed in detail
later in this section, however, they resulied in changes in the designations of staff mem-
bership to, Attending, Consulting and Senior Consulting. The attendant changes in
category qualifications resulted in a shift in the numbers of staff members in each cat-
egory. There were 218 Active staff members in 1980 but only 148 Attending staff mem-
bers by 1981 As of 1987, the number of attending staff had risen to 185. With the
changes in 1981, virtually all attending staff were full-time clinical faculty.

Afurther change in bylaws in 1987 added the designation of Courtesy Staff for indi-
viduals who were on the faculty but did not practice at University Hospital. Membership
figures for 1988 were: 208 attending staff, 223 consulting staff, 43 courtesy saff and 32
senior consulting staff. In 1992, these figures were 237, 181, 93 and 37, respectively.

In the 75 years from 1917 to 1892, the University of Nebraska hospital staff member-
ship changed from 2 total of 52 all volunteer clinical faculty to a total of 548 including
237 fulltime clinical faculty.

When the hospital opened in 1917, there was no separate medical staff organization
or governance. The hospital was an extension of, and under the control of, the College
of Medicine, with the Dean serving as the Superintendent of the hospital. The medical
staff of the hospital consisted of the voluncer clinical faculty of the college. There were
1o bylaws or specific organization of aff. Th the Univer-
sity Hospital Medical Staffin the “Regents' Rules of Governance of the University Hospi-

@l” ™ stated, “The staf of the University Hospital is composed of the professors, clini-
cal professors, instructors and associates in the University of Nebraska College of Medi-
cine. These men receive no compensation from the State, and are not permitted by
Regents' Rules to receive remuneration from the patients in the University Hospital.
Each member of the staff may be relied upon to use his highest skillin the treatment of
patients sent to the University Hospital.” No changesin this relationship occurred until
1955 when the general faculty ofthe College of Medicine at ts meeting of October 5 ™

appr “Bylaws and Rules and Medical Staff”. These
ere forvarded to the Board of Regents and became effective February, 1956 .

The notice of the October 5, 1935, faculty meeting, dated September 26, 1955 ©
stated, “To meet the staffrequirements of the Joint Commission on Accreditation, the
proposed draft of a hospital staff as the faculty
is proposed.” These ‘Bylaws and Rules and Regulations” ® were a separate document
independent from the bylaws of the faculty. Several portions of this document are wor-
thy of note as a basis for understanding changes in subsequent years. With respect to
‘membership, Article Il Section I stated, “Membership in the medical staff shall be lim-




ited to graduates of an approved medical school or dental school licensed to practice
medicine or dentistry in the states of Nebraska or Iowa, holding membership in their
local medical or dental society, practicing within the community or within the states of
Nebraska or lowa, and holding an appointment on the faculty of the Colege of Medi-
cine.” for one year by the Board recommen-
dation of the Chiefs of their respective services to the Dean of the College of Medicine
for transmission to the Chancellor and to the Board of Regents. Redppointments were
made by the same route.

The staff was divided into active and associate groups. “The active medical staff shall
consist of physicians and dentists who have been selected to practice in the hospital or
dispensary and to whom patients may be assigned. Members of the active medical staff
shall be required to be wellskilled in the particular branch of practice to which they are:
appointed.  Associate staff shall consist of physicians and dentists who may be given
limited sugoments fr parient cae in the hospitalordispensary. D ofthe actve
staff were to ‘hospital and dispensary. Any recom-
mendations regarding operation of the hcspml or dispensary were to be made to the
Dean. Only active staff members could vote on businessof the media .

The cl f the staff in Article V. Medicine
10 include Dermatology; Neurology and Psychiatry; Obstetrics and Gvnetology Oph-

; Pathols

newborn; Radmlugy, Rehabxluauon and Physical Medicine; Surgery to include

d Urology. Article V, Section I
titled Speclahzanon ated, T Ch|cfof5crv|oe shall be a recognized specialist, and
‘members of his department shall be wellskilled in the specialty to which they are ap-
pointed.” There were no other stated reguiremens such as Board Cerdification. Orga-
nization of servi in Section IB. under ArticleV,
Section I, shall i cesand th chairman ofth
the College of Medicine shall be the Chief of Service at the University Hospital.”

‘The classification of privileges was covered in Article VI, Section I: *Privileges ex-
tended to members of the medical staff shall be determined by the Chief of Service.
Staff members vill be given every opportunity to institute such methods of care and
treatment as, in their opinion, are deemed advisable. Newly appointed medical staff
members shall be granted minor privileges until such time s it has been determined
that further privileges may be allowed by the Chief of Service.”

In Article VI, Government, Section 1, the following appeared: “The government of
the hospital shall be by the Dean of the College of Medicine and the active staff.” The
oficers consisted ofthe Dean who wa (o presie a the meetings of the actve saff, 2
vicechairman who p in the Dean, anda
accounts of atendance, business transacted and all reports of commitees, Both the
vicechairman and the secretary ere elected from the membership of the active staff.




In Section II, on committees, it was noted that all committee members were appointed
by the Dean. There was a University Hospital Executive Committee which consisted of
12 chiefs of service or their designees, the Dean, and the Assistant Hospital Superinten-
dent. Ttwas to meet monthly and act on hospital matters in the interim between regular
medical staff meetings which were quarterly. Among other duties, the Executive Com-
‘mittee was responsible for the selection of Interns. There were two other committees
specified, a Medical Records Committee and a Tissue Committee. Each was to meet
once amonth. The membership, either as to number or other qualifications, was not
specified. The Rules and Regulations dealt with 2 number of operational details such as
the medical staff meeting schedule, admitting requi for patients, histories and
‘physicals, discharge summaries, and operative report requirements.

Subsequent to approval of the “Bylaws and Rules and Regulations by the Board of
Regents”, an organizational meeting of the clinical staff was held on March 7, 1956. The
notice of that meeting dated February 27, 1956, ® contained the following, “The gen-
eral faculty meeting of February 1, 1956 noted that, initially, al eligible members of the
faculty would be active members of the hospital staff unless they expressed their desire
10 be members of the associate staff.” Any action, pro or con, on this proposal was not
recorded in the available minutes of the March 7, 1956 meeting.

By 1961, for no discernible reason, the bylaws of the medical staff were again incorpo-
rated into the bylaws of the General Faculty. These general faculty bylaws were ap-
proved by the faculty on March 8, 1961 ®. In Article V' on organization, the following
appears: “Under the general faculty of the College of Medicine, there shall be orga-
nized several departments, the faculty of the School of Nursing and the medical staff of
the University Hospital.” Bylaws of the medical staff were spelled out in Section I of
Article V of the Bylaws of the General Faculy. The “Rules and Regulations of the Uni-
versity of Nebrasks Hospital”were in Scction IT of the ‘Rules and Regulaions of the
University of Nebraska College of Medicine” of November 6, 1961 .

There were some other differences from the 1956 bylaws, and there were now three

ctive, Consultant. These

clearly defined than previously. Only vote on
10 the operation of the hospital. Members were elected by the hospital staff on recom-
mendation of the department chairman and had to agree to attend the proportion of

and hospital staff ified in the rules and regulations. Associ-
ate members, *..shall be those faculty members who take 2 less active part in hospital
affairs or those less experienced members undergoing a period of probation before
being considered for appointment to the active staff.” They were nominated by the
department chairman and elected by the staff. The new Consultant ategory where

membersof the: with r patient car
but whose advice and counsel might be helpful 10 the staff. This included Some men-
bers of the basi They could y of the

active saff and elected by the active staff



The section on O tion and specified that the of the
hospital staff were to be linical the bulletin (p
bulletin of the College of Medicine) and the departments of Pathology and Microbiol-
ogy. Under the section on officers it was indicated that the Dean was still the presiding
officer at all meetings, however, a first and second vice-president and a secretary were
elected from the active staff. Their terms of office and duties were similar to those of
officers of the general faculty. The executive committee consisted of the chairmen of
the departments of Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Microbiology, Pathology, Pe-
diatrics, Radiology and Surgery, the Dean, the Hospital Administrator, the Director of
the School of Nursing and the Director of the Outpatient Department. There were also
three members from departments other than those listed above elected from the active
hospital staff at its annual meeting. Each served for one year,

The committce structure was enlarged. Committees were now appointed by the ex-

not the Dean, Tt Disaster, Infection, Intern, Medical
Records, Pharmacy and Formulary, Radioisotopes, Surgical Audit, Tissue and Tumor
committees. Duties were detailed in the rules and regulations.

The final section dealt with ethics. “The codes of echics adopied by the American
Medical Association and the Dental hall guid Lh:conducwhhe
members of the hospital staff.”

‘The *Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff”, which were a section of the “Rules
and Regulations of the College of Medicine and Hospital” as noted earlier, indicated
that Active staff members were to attend at least 50% of the general staff meetings and
50% of departmental siaff meetings. The remainder of the “Rules and Regulations™
specified the memberships and duties of the various hospital committees.

Subsequently, new “Bylaws of the Medical Staff” were adopted March 21, 1966 ©.
They were again an independent document separated from the “Bylaws of the College
of Medicine”. However, the preamble indicated that the hospital was an integral part of
the College of Medicine complex, administered under the Dean of the College and the
Chancellor of the University in conformity with the “Bylaws and Rules and Regulations
of the Board of Regents” which constituted the governing body. These 1966 bylaws were
far more detaled than either those of 1956 or 1961. Qualfcations for memberstip,
terms of andan
out. The ethics section vas expanded 10 include the statement, “All members of the
‘medical staff shall pledge that they will
or indirectly, any part of a fee for professional srvices.” Categories of the medical aff
consisted of Active, Associate, and Consulting, but the required duies in cach were

patient care, and relation o the hospital.
Departments were expanded to include Orthopedic Surgery, Otorhinolaryngology,
Ophthalmology, Urology, Dermatology, Neurology and Peychiatry, and Physical Medi-

ineand ig




Under the section on officers, the role of the Dean as president of the staff was more
specifically stated. “The Dean of the College of Medicine, if a licensed physician, shall
by virtue of his office be president of the medical staff. In case the Dean is not a licensed
physician, the president shall be nominated by the Dean, approved by the executive
committee, and elected at the annual meeting of the medical staff.” The vice-president
and secretary were elected at the annual meeting of the medical staff to, “...hold office
until the next annual meeting or until a successor is elected.” .

The executive committee consisted of the officers of the medical staff and the chair-
men of the departments of Internal Medicine, Surgery, Obs(cmcs and Gynecology, Neu-
rology and Psychiatry, Pediatrics, Pathology, Radiology, and
members elected from departments other than those listed above. “Such additional
members shall be nominated and elected by the hospital staff at its annual meeting...
The hospital administrator was an ex-officio member of the executive committee with-
out vote. Eleven specific sanding committees were designated and their membership
and duties were defined in the bylaws.

New bylaws were adopted in July, 1976, 0% and contained a number of changes which
continued to reinforce the concept of the medical staff as an independent entity. In
September, 1974, Dean Perry Rigby appointed Dr. F. Miles Skultety, Associate Dean of
Clinical Affairs and, subsequently, designated him as President of the Medical Staff with-
out approval of the executive committee. As noted the extant 1966 bylaws stated, “In
case the Dean is nota licensed physician, the president shall be nominated by the Dean,
approved by the executive committee ec...”. Since Dr. Rigby was a licensed physician,
the bylaws were not strictly followed. Subscquendy, Dr. Skultety chaired a committee
which reviewed the bylaws and made resulting in the 1976 ch
‘With respect to the Office of the President of the Medical Staff, the 1976 bylaws o
stated, “The Dean of the College of Medicine, if a licensed physician, or by his designa-
tion the Associate Dean of Clinical Affairs, shall be President of the Medical Staff. In the
case the Dean is not a licensed physician, the president shall be the Associate Dean of
Clinical Affairs approved by the Chancellor of the Medical Center.” As another sign of
recognition of medical staff independence, the president of the staff was made a mem-
ber of the Chancellor’s Administrative Counsel, effective February, 1976.

Extensive changes were made in the section on medical staff membership. In the
1956 bylaws, a specific statement appeared, “Appointment to the active or associate
medical staff shall be made by the Board of Regents...”. Even though it was indirectly
implied in the 1961 and sions, no such urred. In the 1976
bylaws, the following statement appeared, “Appointment o the medical staff shall be
made by the Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska after recommendation of
the medical staff, the Dean of the College of Medicine, and the Chancellor of the Medi-
cal Center.” A Cmdcnmls Committee of the medical staff was created in 1976 to review

i ofall bmitted “on 2 designated form” and to
recommend applicants only after a satisfactory review confirming their qualifications.
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‘The privileges of each clinical service were specifically designated and subject to review
and approval by the executive committee. Each staff member was granted specific clini-
cal privileges after appropriate review, and these were subject to periodic reevaluation
and did not extend in perpetuity. In addition, appellate review procedures were spelled
outin considerably more detail than previously.

These new bylaws the medical staff a more i tatus in relation to
the Medical Center and the University generally as well as the College of Medicine and
conformed to the sricter rules being applied o teaching hospitals by the Joint Commis-
sion on Accreditation of Hospitals.

Starting in July, 1977, an ad-hoc committee chaired by Dr. Sushil Lacey began a pro-
longed and extensive review of medical staff and hospital governance with input from
Mr. John Horty, a lawyer with expertise in the field of medical staff organization. This
review resulied in a profound alteration in the governance of the hospital and the medi-
cal staff. The most significant change was the creation of a Board of Governors of the
University of Nebraska Hospital and Clinic and the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute ®.
The Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska established the Board of Governors
upon the recommendation of the administration of the Medical Center. The Regents
delegated to the Board of Governors the power to appoint, determine the clinical privi-
leges of, reappoint and discipline members of the medical and dental staff of the hospi-
tal and institute; to approve medical staff bylaws of the hospital and insitute; to oversee
medical staff operation in order to ensure compliance with applicable federal and state
Iaws and regulations and the requirements of the Joint Commission on the Accredita-
tion of Hospitals; and to approve actions in all matters involving the quality of patient
care in the hospital and the institute. The Board of Regents retained control of the
financial operation of the hospital and institute. However, the Board of Governors could

0 the Chancellor, the the Board
of Regents on the annual budgets of the hospital and the insitute.

The Board of Governors consisted of the Directors of University Hospital and the
Nebraska Psychiatric Institute, the Chancellor of the Medical Center, the Dean of the
College of Medicine, the Chief of the Hospital Medical Staff, and four community mem-
bers appointed by the Board of Regents after receiving the recommendations of the
President of the University and the Chancellor of the Medical Center. Community mem-
bers served for a period of two years and could not serve longer than three successive
terms. The original membership was staggered so that two new community members
came on the Board every year. Regular meetings were held at least eight times per year.

Officers of the Board of fa chairman, and hairman elected
from the community members, the director of the hospital and the institute and the
hospital chief of staff.

With the merger of the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute and the University Hospital in
1986, the position of the Director of the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute was abolished.
That position on the Board of Governors was replaced by a representative of the Council

)



of Clinical Chiefs, elected by that council biannually. Other details beyond the scope of
this history can be found in the most recent copy of the bylaws, February, 1998, on file
in the archives of the Leon S. McGoogan Library ©.

‘The new “Bylaws of the Medical Staff” were adopted in February, 1980, ™. They
were very extensive and stipulated 2 number of very significant changes in medical staff
organization, These bylaws and all subsequent revisions were approved by the Board of
Governors rather than the Board of Regents. Membership categories were modified
and, for the first ime, staff members were assessed dues, however, they did not start
until 1981. Attending staff were defined as physicians and dentists who were faculty
members of the College of Medicine and used the hospital 2s their primary practice
sight. They were entitled 0 vote, hold office, serve on medical staff committees, and
were required to attend staff meetings and pay dues. The associate staff category was
dropped. Consulting staff were physicians and dentists who were members of the fac-
ultybut did not use the hospital as the primary sight of practice but could and did admit
patients to the University Hospital on occasion. They were not eligible to vote, were not
required to serve on committees or attend staff meetings, but were required to pay
dues. A Senior Consultant staff category was added for, *..distinguished members of
the medical staff who have long served the hospital...” upon reaching the age of 70 or
substantially retiring from active practice. They might care for patients with privileges
of their former membership category. They were not eligible to vote, not required to
serve on medical staff committees or attend staff meetings and did not pay dues. Two
other new categories were included. Medical Associates were individuals other than

ysici dentists (eg. who had faculty d, *..who
have been licensed or certified by their respective licensing o certifying agencies and
who desire to provide professional services in the hospital.” They were not entitled to
the rights, privileges or responsibilities of appointment to the medical staff. Staff Affili-
ates were individuals employed by a physician or dentist who was a member of the med-
cal staff.

Determination of the clinical privileges of physicians and dentists and of the scope of
practice and activities of medical associates and staff affiliates came under the jurisdic-
tion of the Credentials Committee.

‘The officers of the medical staff were changed to include a Chief of Staff and Vice-
Chief of Staff instead of a President and a Vice-President and a Secretary, Treasurer
instead of a Secretary. “The Dean of the College of Medicine and the Chief Executive
Officer shall in consuliation with the Executive Committee, recommend the appoint-
ment and removal of the Chief of Staff to the Board. The Chancellor of the University
of Nebraska Medical Center shall appoint and remove the Chief of Staff following ap-
propriate review by the Board. The medical staff, by a two-third vote, may recommend
to the Board of Governors that the Chief of Staff be removed.” The Chief of Staff was
no longer required to be Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs. The other officers were to
be elected in *even numbered years” by a vote of the attending staff. They could serve
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for nomore than two consecutive terms. With the adoption of these bylaws, the position
of President of the Medical Staff was abolished. Table 5 lists the individuals who served
as President from 191710 1980. For the sake of completeness, Table 6 liststhe Chiefs of
Staff from 1980 unil the present.

PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF OF THE
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL

Iving S. Cuter, MD. 1917-1925 Dean
1.Jay Keegan, MD. 19251929 Dean
CWM. Poyater, M.D. 19291946 Dean
Harold C. Lueth, MD.  1946-1952 Dean
1. Perry Tollman, MD. 19521964 Dean
Cecll L. Winson, MD.  1964-1969 Dean
MD. 1974 Dean
E Miles Skultety, D, 1974-1980 Associate Dean

TABLE S Each of these men served as President of the Medical Stff. As notedinthe text, Dean Rigby
Yinical President in 1974,

CHIEFS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF OF THE
'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL

FMiles Skoltety, MD. 19801982 Associate Dean
Leon . Davis, MD. 1982-1985  Associate Dean
Charles A Dobey, MD. 19851991 Associate Dean

James R, Newland, MD.  1991-

TABLEG  Each of 1980, Drs. Dobry.
and

‘The number of services comprising the medical saff were significantly greater than
those in the original bylaws of 1956. They were: Anesthesiology, Dermatology, Emer-
gency Medicine, Family Practice, Internal Medicine, Microbiology, Neurology,
Neurosurgery, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ophthalmology, Oral Surgery, Orthopedic
Surgeryand ion, Otorhinolaryngology illofack : Pathology,
Pediatric Dentistry, Pediatric Rehabilitation, Pediatrics, Psychology, Radiology, Surgery




and Urology. Tt was stipulated that the medical staff and the board by joint action could
add, delete, combine, or subdivide medical services and this has happened a number of
times since 1980. The head of each clinical service was the Clinical Chief and it was
stipulated that he or she was to be the Chairman of the corresponding College of Medi-
cine or Dentistry Clinical Department or his or her nominee.

The committees of the medical staff were also significantly modified. The Executive
Committee consisted of the officers of the medical taff, wwo Clinical Chiefs elected by
the Council of Clinical Chiefs, two members at large elected by the atiending staff, the
Chairmen of the Credentials, Quality Assurance and Policy Review Committees and the
Chief Executive Officer ex-officio with vote. In contrast to previous bylaws there were
only five other committees stipulated: a Credentials Committee, a Policy Review Com-
mittee, a Quality Assurance Committee, 2 Bylaws Committee and a Nominating Com-
mittee. A number of subcommittees under the Credentials, Policy Review and Quality
Assurance committees, were designated in the “Rules and Regulations”, This committee
sructure reflected a marked change i organization of the medical saff o provide in-

quality of care provided at the Univer-

sity Hospital.

A Council of Clinical Chiefs was added. This consisted of the chiefs of each clinical
service in addition to the Chief of Staff, the Dean of the College of Medicine and the
Chief Operating Officer. The latter were ex-officio with vote. The Chief of Staffserved
as Chairman of the Council. The Council was to advise on matters pertaining o budget,

ing clinical and educational long range planning.

‘The due process p ive and detailed g over 13 pages
in the bylaws. They included qualiicatons for appointment, conditions for appoint.
‘ment, applications for initial appointment and clinical privleges, description of initial
clinical privileges, procedure for initial appointment, procedure for temporary clinical
privileges and emergency clinical privileges, procedure for reappointment, procedures
for requesting increases in clinical privileges, procedures for actions involving clinical
competency, professional conduct and other infractions, summary suspension of clini-
cal privileges and automatic suspension of clinical privileges, and procedures for leave
of absence. There were six pages covering hearing and appeals procedures in contrast
10 1-1/2 pages in the 1976 bylaws and total absence in the 1956 and 1961 bylaws.

Subsequent to 1980, regular records have been kept of bylaws' revisions and a num-
ber of have occurred, actually 16 as of February, 1993 02, Revisions of note were the
addition of a House Officer category in 198, deletion of Staff Affiliate in 1986, and
addition of a Courtesy Staff category in 1987. In 1983, provisions were made to clect the
Chief of Staff. “The Nominating Committee of the Medical Staff with consultation
from the Dean of the College of Medicine, the Chief Executive Officer, and the attend-
ing medical staff shall nominate two individuals for the position of Chief of Staff. The
election ofa Chief of Staff from these two nominees shall be by written mail ballot of the




attending staff and valid if at least 25% of the attending staf respond. The individual
receiving the majority of the vote cast by the attending staff shall be recommended to
the Board of Governors for appointment. The terms of office shall be for three years
with no more than two consecuive terms.” A recent change in the 1993 revision of the
bylaws established the position of Chief of StaffElect. This individual is to be elected
and serve as Chief of StaffElect during the final year of the Chief of Staff's three-year
term and will automatically succeed the Chief of Staff for one three-ear term. The
process of nomination and election is exactly as outlined above for the Chief of Staff
position.



NURSING SERVICE
Carol M. Wilson BA MA

The Nursing Service at University Hospital began when the hospital opened on Sep-
tember 3, 1917. The first Director, Charlotte Burgess, arrived in Omaha earlyin August
of 1917 ©, A the time there were four graduate nurses. One wasin charge of the

wasin charge of the second
floor, and the fourth functioned as mgm supervisor . Recruitment and retention
were at me of the first four tayed I

than amonth as they were called awa to start their army work. Nurses employed later to
take their place were all shorterm people, and many were called avay to take care of
the soldiers sick with flu at various camps . Miss Burgess also started the School of
Nrsing and nursing students provided the majority of nursing service in the hospital.

In November, 1927, Unit 2 o the Universiy Hospital vas opened. The new unit
housed the ped and . Atthe official
receprion, the nursing faculty and student nurses functioned as tour guides ™.

Early in the 1930's, Miss Burgess began hiring general duty staff nurses. At this time,
very few nurses worked in-hospital; most did private duty work. Hospital work was con-
sidered “student work” and not a respectable thing for graduate nurses to do. Because

of dismal s high, and man them-
selves out of ork. Thus,some nurses ecurned o the hospial 10 ork ),
Atypical ward at Uni patients. Each ward had

one or two private rooms utilized for isolation patients or acutely ill patients. The re-
‘mainder of the beds were on an open ward. Portable screens were used to provide
privacy for the patient while the nurse was doing any type of procedure. The nursing
staff spent much time moving the screens from patient to patient. These were later
replaced with cubical curtains. Unil about the mid 1940', all patients being admitied
were given a bath in the *admitting room” which was on level 3 of Unit 1. Those patients
who could were instructed to take a bath and those who could not had to get into the b
and were given a bath by the nurse 07,

New equipment purchased cither expanded the role of the nurse or made the work
casier. In 1931, major improvements were made in the operating room. A mulibeam
surgicallight replaced the old chandeliers. Comment was made in the “Nurse Reporter”
that had these lights been purchased ten years earlie, the entire surgical saff would be
in better humor &, The following year, University Hospital had its first oxygen tent. It
was described as a most complicated piece of equipment but was put to much use ®9.

In 1934, the eight hour shift was introduced to replace the twelve hour shifts. Also, in
thisyear, funds were made available through the Civil Works Administration (CWA.) to
provide employment. Ten women were employed for sewing, and 60 men worked on
construction projects. In addition to this, ten student nurses and several medical stu-




dents were employed to help in the hospital. They did this in addition to their regular
duty time . In 1936, five nursing students from Clarkson Hospital were affliating with
University Hospital for their pediatric and obstetrical experience. At this time, the gen-
eral duty staff of the University Hospital consisted of eleven University graduates and
three Clarkson graduates .,

In 1937, life was made easier for the nursing staff. The tunnel between the hospital
and Conkling Hall (where all the students lived as well as the siaff) was completed. It
opened after the worst snow storm of the year . In 1942, the nursing staff had grown
10 20 supervisors and instructors, two dieticians, 15 general saff nurses and 107 stu-
dents ),

In 1943, World War 11 had an effect on the hospital nursing service. In an address
given by Charlotte Burgess on May 20th, she stated:

“About one third of our medical staff, many of whom were on the School Lecture
Staff are now in the service. This affects our teaching program, and our dlinical
seruice in the Hospital and in the Out-Patient Department. Then thereis the loss
of Nurse Instructors, Supervisors, and Head Nurses. School of Nursing can’t
today be sure how long any of the assistants may continue their service. Then
there i the shrtage of the General Duty Staff. This s being eased in part by
o des, W %

To conserve the time and experience of the studens in our program, we

No history of the nursing service at University Hospital would be complete without
mentioning three nurses who started during the Burgess era but worked many years
after she retired. These nurses were Velma Mason, Mathilda Brock, and Helen Erikson.
Mrs. Mason was affectionately referred to as “Mother Mason”. She was a day supervisor
for many years. She kept the staff *on their toes”. Miss Brock was known as “Aunt Til"
and was the evening supervisor for many years. Along with Mrs. Mason, she watched
over the care of all patients with great scrutiny. Helen Erikson worked in the clinics for
several years and then moved to the emergency department. The dedication and hard
work of these three nurses did much to mold the development of nursing service at
University Hospital.

In April, 1946, Irma M. Kyle succeeded Charlotte Burgess as Director of the School of
Nursing and Director of Nursing Service . During the following two years, many
improvements were made to make the working conditions in the hospital easier, A
central supply room was set up. This relieved the nurses on the units from preparing
their own supplies. This department reported to Miss Kyle. An order book was started




with an order sheet for each patient. This relieved the head nurse from transcribing
orders. Several nurses aides and ward clerks were added to the nursing staff .

Miss Kyle recognized the need for graduate nurses and appealed to Alumnae to work
at University Hospital, especially on evening shifts, weekends and in the summer to
relieve students, head nurses and supervisors for vacations. Her appeal in 1948 offered
graduates $180 per month for full-time employment and $6.50 per day for parttime
work. A $10.00 bonus was offered for each three weekend tours of evening or night
duty. Her appeal apparently went unheeded as she repeated her plea many times the
next few years ®9, In spite the lack of general duty nurses, Miss Kyle did have a small
group of dedicated women to assist her in running the hospital and the school. The
distinction between faculty and hospital staff was nebulous; most had responsibility for
nursing service as well as nursing education %,

The 1950's saw many changes in hospital nursing. The length of hospital stay for
patients continued to decline; medical treatment of patients became more complex;
new surgical procedures, such as open heart surgery, were being done; the types of
‘medications available and used increased dramatically. All of this caused a greater de-
mand for professional nursing at a time when there was a shortage of nurses ®. To
meet this challenge, University Hospital began the utilization of practical nurses and
increased the number of nursing assistants . This added a new dimension to the role
ofthe i i i U
not enough attention was given to prepare the nurses for this period.

In 1957, Miss Kyle reorganized the School of Nursing in an attempt to separate the
teaching and nursing service functions. Although Miss Kyle was stll responsible for
both education and service, the reorganization was the forerunner of the complete
scparation of education and service as mandated by the National League for Nursing
(NLN) the accrediting agency for schools of nursing. Clare Fleming was appointed
Assistant Director of Nursing Education, and Carol Wilson was appointed Assistant Di-
rector of Nursing Service. The distinction between faculty and nursing service staff was
still nebulous. Many nursing service personnel functioned as instructors and were re-
sponsible for much of the clinical instruction of students. Nursing students continued
to provide much of the nursing care 9.

In 1958, Team Nursing was introduced at University Hospital 9. With the increased
use of practical nurses and nurses aides, functional nursing was utilized. Usually this
‘meant that the RN. did medications, the practical nurse did treatments and the aide
gave the baths and made beds. This resulted in very fragmented care to the patient,
whereas the purpose of team nursing was to have different levels of personnel working
together under the direction of an R.N. team leader to give coordinated care to the
patients,

In 1960, NLN accreditation of the School of Nursing was denied due in part to the
reliance on nursing students to provide nursing care 9. This meant that more staff
needed to be hired so that Nursing Service did not need to rely on students for nursing.
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‘This was very difficultat a ime when there was a shortage of both nurses and money. In
May, 1963, the administration of nursing at University Hospital officially changed. The
decision was madl to create a Department of Nursing Service responsible to hospital
administration. Carol Wikon was appointed Director of Nursing Service; Irma Kyle
yfor nursing service and was the Director of the School of

Nursing .

In 1967, work began on the new hospital building. Also, a new unit was opened on
the 7th floor of the old hospital. This unit gave the nursing staff a sample of what was to
come in the new hospital: call lights for each patient, high-low beds, piped in oxygen,
complete airconditioning, and a central food service system. This system wasalso started
in the rest of the hospital ™.

Because of hospital expansion and the increased nursing shortage, much emphasis
was placed on the improved utilization of professional nursing and on the elimination
of non-nursing functions from nursing personnel. Changes initiated during this time
included: an enlarged housekeeping service to clean the units of dismissed patients,
clean ulity rooms and some porches, and to keep the patient wards orderly; a messen-
ger and patient transportation system; revision of charting forms to shorten the time
nurses spent in charting; extension of ward clerk coverage; extension of pharmacy ser-
vice;and extended central srvice unctions .

A

tant Nurses, They
atthe el they b reachee n the School quursmg and were always under the super-
vision of a professional nurse. This was thought to be an innovation at the time; but
Charlotte Burgess had done the same thing many years earlier ™.

At this time, emphasis was also being placed on improved patient centered care.
Nursing Car y d became a partofthe
record. Selecti il Ldiet. Patientsno longer
had to change to hospital attire before going (o the inpatient unit. They could keep
their own clothes in the unit and even wear their own pajamas and gowns. Things were
also improving for the nursing saff. Salaries increased subsiantilly, and more educa-

The D startedin

Nursing Service to supportthis fanction. Josephine Pinckley vas the frst director.

Earlyin the 1970's, the University Hospital was the first in Nebraska to utlize Primary
Nursing as the modality of care for patients. Each patient was to have a primary nurse
who was responsible for the planning and coordination of the patient's care. The pur-
pose of this system was to provide more personalized and coordinated care to the pa-
tents. Primary Nursing was also more satisfying to the professional nurses. It allowed
them (o utilize their skills more effectively and also to make decisions about patient
care. In 1970, the dress code was changed in Nursing Service and the staff was allowed
10 wear panisuis. This helped the problems created by mini skirts in some of the staffs’
uniforms .




‘The nursing shortage continued and in the 1970's recruitment and retention were
top priorities. A recruitment committee was appointed. Senior nursing students, par-
ticularly from Universityand Creighton, were “wined and dined” each year. There wasa

Kilpatrick’s
Universty Hospital was one of the frst. hospitals to utilize radio and teleision for re-
cruitment. This drew some criticism from other hospitals. Later, billboards were uti-
lized to help recruit nurses to University Hospital. Primary Nursing was a big asset to
recruitment. It auracted many new graduates because it allowed them to practice their
profession as they had been taught. Barbara Bideaux Kaplan was employed as Assistant
Director responsible for recruitment and staffing in 1974.

In 1971, Nursing Service underwent an organizational renewal. The Unit Director
position was initiated to expand the head nurse role. The Unit Director had 4 hour
responsibiliy for the nursing care on her unit ", By this time, the role of the shift
supervisorshnd been linined. There wasa person on cach it charge” of nurs-

tshifcs, The Un with the
hiring of their own smﬂ' and with the pmpmnon of the budget for their unit. The
purpose of this was y of this

position.

‘The Nursing Department started working on a Patient Classification System in 1974,
‘The purpose of this was to have staffing based on the acuity and needs of the patients,
rather than on numbers. This was done manually for several years but was later comput-
erized.

In 1975, the concept of a Clinical Career Ladder was introduced 9. The purpose of
this was to recognize staff nurses with different levels of expertise. It was hoped that this
would reduce the turnover and keep expert nurses at the bedside. This took several
years to develop, and University Hospital was the first hospital in Omaha to implement
a Career Ladder. There were levels in the Career Ladder and criteria were established
for each area of nursing. It was a very difficult program to develop and to manage and

later by the Professional Program. This program recognized
staff nurses who were truly “op achievers”. Not more than five percent of the staff
nurses were anticipated to meet the criteria. When the criteria were met, staff nurses
received a cash stipend.

Continuing education and research have long been valued in the nursing depart-
mentat University Hospital. Itstarted with Charlotte Burgess who encouraged nurses to
earn their bachelors degree and has continued throughout the years. After the School
of Nursing became a four year baccalaureate program in the 1950's, nurses at University
Hospal wese encouraged 0 abe clases. There wasasubsanial iionreduction for

. The develop-
ment of the Inservice Education Deparlmtm within Nursing Service provided an orien-
tation y i ing of quip

ment.



Rescarch has also been an inegral part of nusing service at the Uniersity Hospl
‘The nursing saff supported th h done by the College of M School of
Nursing by assisting in the collection of data and specimens. The nursing staff also did
rescarch on their own to find ways to improve patient care. In 1967, two studies were
documented in the “Communicator”. The first, was a study regarding the delay in the
Emergency Department on the admission of patents. The study showed that the biggest
delay was in ime spentin x-ray. The other study done was to determine if the personnel
were justified in their complaints about being called frequently to work extra, and if so
how the situation might be corrected. This resulted in trying a “No Pulling Policy” and
having each unit responsible for replacing necded staff. Some earlier studies done in-
volved the role of the ward clerk, the administration of medicines, and patient satisfac-

on.

In 1981, 2 Research Coordinating Committee for Nursing was started in conjunction
with the College of Nursing 9. June Eilers, Clinical Nurse Specialist, was the first chair-
person. Later, in the 1980's, the importance of research in Nursing Service was demon-
strated by the development of a new position, Director of Nursing Research in the Clini-
cal Area. Dr. Fannie GastonJohannsen wasrecruited from the College of Nursing faculty
to il this positon. Under her direction, the Rescarch Nurse Intern Prograr was estab-
lished. The p
the hospital. This program has received national recognition.

Two other unique aspects of nursing service at University Hospital have been “dis-
charge planning”and “patient education”. In 1982, the responsibilityfor discharge plan-
ning was given to nursing by the Utilization Review Committee of the Medical Staff 9.
In the majority of hospitals, discharge planning is the responsibility of the Social Service
Department and nursing is not involved. The nursing staff at University Hospital felt
that discharge planning was a very important part of patient education. Social Service
has a large role to playin d:scharge planning, particularly placing patintsin alternative
. This system has worked
wellat Universiy Hosptal both fo the patients anlfor the saf, Patent educaton has
become an integral partof nursing service. While many disciplines contribute o educat-
ing the patient, the y .
ing that the patient knows what to do upon dismissal. With hospital stays becoming
shorter, thisis more important to do and also more difficult. On each patient unit, a saff
nurse has been designated as the Patient Education Resource Person. This person main-
tains the patient education materials on the unit, and functions as a resource person to
other staff.

Another distinctive feature of the Nursmg Servie a Universty Hospial i the utiiza-
tion of Clinical N (aMas
area of nursing). Barbara Winfield was < e it Clinical Nurse Specilist cmployed in
1965. There are now over 20 Clinical the staff, Their
quite varied depending on the areas in which they work. This has greatly enriched the

4



nursing staff and quality of care delivered.

The administrative placement of the Director of Nursing changed a great deal over
the years. When Carol Wilson was appointed Director of Nursing Service of 1963, she
had Department Head status. By 1982, the Director of Nursing Service was also an
Assistant Hospital Director, and the Unit Directors achieved the same status as depart-
ment heads. In 1988, the Director of Nursing Service became an Associate Hospital
Director. In 1992, Carol Wilson retired after 40 years of service at thé Medical Center.
Another at that time. The position of Director of Nursing
Service was changed to Chief Nursing Officer. Dr. Pam Triola was appointed to this
position in 1993, and also has an appointment as an Associate Dean in the College of
Nursing.

The history of nursing service at University Hospital has been rich in accomplish-
ments and as a result, the hospital has earned an excellent reputation for providing
outstanding nursing care.




HOSPITAL-BASED SERVICES
INTRODUCTION

In this section information will be provided on the various hospitalbased facilities
and services which enable the hospital (o provide the care and treatment necessary for
its patients. The major services such as medicine, surgery, etc., which are not hospital

sed are not covered in this history. They were more appropriately covered in “The
First Hundred Years of the University of Nebraska College of Medicine.” As time went
on in compiling information for this history, more and more “services” came to mind or
were recommended for inclusion. At this point, I hope I have included all significant
services. If there are omissions, they were not intentional.

These rograms ach providea rvice tothe patientsand salfdirety o indirct
Th notmeant to be an extensive historical review.
‘The author had to rely 102 Jarge extent on individuals who are working in the areas or
who had worked in the areas in the past to provide the necessary information. All who
assisted are gratefully acknowledged in appropriate sections of this history.

HOUSE OFFICERS

Verylitte documented information could be found pertaining to graduate physician
training programsat the University of Nebraska Hospital prior to the 1950's. In the past,
internships and residencies in this country were hospitalbased. At the present time,
mostare under the auspices of colleges of medicine which is the case at the University of
Nebraska Medical Center.

Itcan be assumed that there were interns at the University Hospital when it opened or
shortly thereafter since references to interns providing services in various arcas were
encountered. For instance, in the information on the Radiology service it is reported
that the original x-ay unit was operated by the intern staff. Also, in the section on
Emergency Medical Services it is noted that the nurse who monitored the emergency
room would call the intern after initial evaluation of patients. The earliest documented
reference which could be found appeared in Tyler and Auerbachs 1928, “History of
Medicine in Nebraska® % A rotating internship of 18 months s described which con-
sist of two months in each of five services, Pathology, Drug Room and Anesthesiology,
Roenigenology and Physical Therapy, Pediatrics (including Otolaryngology and Opl

(including O % phy
sician) plus four months each on Medicine and Surgery.

‘The original floor plans of Unit 1 show interns quarters on the sixth level in the east
wing above the library. By 1928, according to Tyler and Auerbach 1), the interns were
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‘housed on the third floor (level 5) of Unit 2, and the resident physician on the second
floor (level 4). Sometime, subsequent to May, 1935, the interns quarters were moved to
Ward N in Unit 2 as noted in the “Nurse Reporter” of that date ®. Their previous
quarters were made into the Obstetric Labor and Delivery Unit. Dr. Harry McFadden,
Professor Emeritus of icrobiology, who served his i ip at Univer-
sity Hospital in 1944 reported that the interns quarters at that time were in the north
wing on the seventh level of Unit 2. By the 1960's, hospital provision of house officers
living quarters was discontinued.

Dr. McFadden recalled that there were 12 interns when he served his internship, plus
residents in Pathology, Surgery, Obstetrics and Gynecology and Medicine. The Office
of Graduate Medical Education reported that a residency in surgery was established in
1947 with residencies in Internal Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Psychiatry and

ting in the late 1940's. provided directly by
Jved, aresidency in Radi shed circa 1930, Pathology
1939, i 1952, Ot in 1968 and O in 1946.

In the letter from Dr. Walter W. Hurmann ™ referred to earlier with reference to the
addition of Unit 2 he stated, “The second unit of the hospital was under construction
during the time I was serving as the first resident of Pathology there.” This would put
the start of  residency in Pathology about 1926.

The Graduate Medical Education office documents residencies starting in Oral Sur-
gery in 1967, Neurology in 1968, Orthopedics in 1969, Urology in 1970 and Family
Practice in 1970, The latest residency is in Neuro-Surgery and this started in July 1993.
The last group of physicians to be called “Interns” started training July 1, 1974. Begin-
ning in 1975, all graduate medical education programs became residencies and the
term “House Officers” was applied to all trainees.

By 1950, the University Hospital had a total resident compliment of 45 in various
specialties, and in 1970 the number had increased to 149. As of 1993, the House Officer
Program totals 386 in 15 speci 12 subspecialties. Not all of these
training at the University Hospital.

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES

When the hospital opened in 1917, there was an emergency room on the ground
floor (level ) in the north wing just off the central corridor. There was an examining
room and beds. A nurse was on duty during the day and the night supervisor covered
during the night. Patients were seen and assessed initially by the nurse and an intern
was called.



When Unit 3 opened in 1961, the emergency service was moved to the north wing of
thatunit. Itwas located on the east side adjacent to the north entrance on levl 2. Ithad

hall,
could be used if necessary during off hours. A nurse was on duty and the appmpmle
house officer was called after initial evaluation.

On March 4, 1970, a new expanded emergency medical services area was opened in
the south wing of Unit 4 . It had its own emergency entrance with a place for ambu-
lances and emergency vehicles. The facility included three adult examining rooms,
three pediatric examining rooms, an ENT room, an orthopedic room and a large open
bayarea to handle serious emergency cases. There was a full nursing staff 24 hours per

day.

In July, 1970, Dr. Wilbur Muhlig, a retired Omaha Neurosurgeon, was employed as
Director of Emergency Services ®. He was present during the day and house officers
were but not sp fullime to gency service.
In July, 1976, Dr. Gerald VanLecuwen became Director of Emergency Medical Services
4, Dr, VanLeeuwen had been Chairman of Pediatrics and was instrumental in devel-
oping the Neonatology Program at the Medical Center. He served for two years, and Dr.
Gerald Moore became Interim Director in July, 1978.

In December, 1978, Dr. Joseph Ornato was appointed Director . Dr. Ornato wasa
Cardiologist who had an interest in, and training in, emergency medicine. During his
tenure, additional physicians were hired so that the emergency room was eventually
covered by a full-ime medical staff 24 hours per day, seven days a week. Some residents
also rotated through the service as part of their training program. The Emergency
Medical Service became a department of the hospital and medical staff. In August,
1982, the University Hospital Emergency Service was designated as one of two level 1
wrauma centes in Ormah. The other was the service at Creighton S. Joseph Hospial
a

In 1987, the Emergency Service expanded to ¢ight multuse examination rooms and
five open bays. luded . cquip-
ment storage rooms, conference room, both male and female patient bathrooms,a stor-
age room, two dirty utility rooms, a private family consultation room, and increased
office space. With the opening of the Outpatient Care Center in 1993, a hallway was
added connecting to the eleator to the new helicopter pad on the top of that building.
Atthe present time, the Emergency and Medical Service staff consists of six full-time
physicians, 22 FTE nurses and 145 FTE ancillary personnel.
In 1971, Lhe Medical Center purchased an ambulance which was ﬁwd to handle
. Th maha
10 the Medical Center. A physician and/or nurse accompanied the paient. In 1975, 2
large mobile home van remodeled and modified into a tray
ive care unit, Originaly it vas o transport neonal patiens,but cventuallytwas sed




to transport adult patients from outlying communities to the University Hospital. The
original van continued to be used for neonatal patients. It was discontinued in 1984 and
the larger vehicle was discontinued in 1985 as air transport became a more efficient
means of ransportation.

In the 1970's, arrangements were made with a local air transport company to trans-
port patients to the University Hospital from extended distances in the state. A nurse
and/or physician would travel with the plane and accompany the patient. On October
16, 1981, a helicopter transport system was inaugurated which was shared with Bryan
Memorial Hospital in Lincoln, and Clarkson, Children's and Methodist Hospitals in
Omaha 1™, It was named “SKYMED" and transported over 400 patients in its first year
of service. In July, 1984, a dedicated full-time team of five adult/ pediatric nurses and
five neonatal nurses began service with the helicopter.

A number of local transport companies were stll employed to transport patients via
fixed wing aircraft from greater distances beyond the range of the helicopter. SKYMED
nurses wentwith the plane to accompany the patients. In December, 1989, the SKYMED
program itself committed to provide fixed wing transport for patients throughout Ne-
braska, the United States, and Canada. This was necessitated by increased referrals to
the transplant programs which had been developed at the University Hospital and were
attracting patients beyond the borders of Nebraska. By 1991, after ten years of service,
SKYMED had transported over 6,000 patients and the staff had increased to 18 nurses.

Reference to Table 7 records the increase in the case load of the Emergency Medical
Service over the last 25 years. The decrease from 1977-78 to 1982-83 was assumed to be
due to the fact that the new Creighton St. Joseph Hospital opened in 1978 and many
emergency cases from the north side of Omaha were routed there. In addition, other
factors pertaining o the city’s emergency transport system had an influence.

NIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL EMERGENCY ROOM VISITS

You | o e
s <
o £ o %
evo 5
I oo e 50
| e
| man
e
e | wa
e | mas
T et e e e g o 17 N e o
T T s e i




OPERATING ROOMS

Information on the physical aspects of the operating room in the early days of the
hospital was not available. The surgical suite was located originally on the seventh level
of Unit 1 and remained there until Unit 4 opened in 1969. With the help of Ms. Lila
Moffat, 1966, ing i hasbeen

put together,

Circa 1935 the surgical suite consisted of two operating rooms, OR 1 and OR 2, i the
north ving plus a scrub room and a small sterile supply room on the west side and a
“cleanup” room on the eastside. In the latier, instruments were boiled to sterilze them
unil 195859 when  steam autoclave and flash autoclave were obtained. In the south
wing there was a surgical amphitheater which was not used in the 1950's, but had been
used extensively earlier, On Friday afternoons, that room was used by the orthopedic
servicefor cast changes on clinic patients. A coffee room for the stff was located be-
hind and beneath th ats. About 1960,a floor/ ceiling creat-
ing an eighth floor in the amphitheater and another operating room, OR 3, was created
in the area on the seventh level. There was also a room on the eastside of the south wing
which was used for linen packs. In 1962 this was converted into a small operating room,
OR 4.

‘The nurses’ and doctors' lockers and dressing rooms were put on the new eighth
floor. Previously, the doctors' room had been on the east side of the corridor between
the north and south wings. This area became the operating room supervisor’s office.
‘The nurses’ dressing room had been on the south side of the corridor connecting Unit
1 with Unit 2 on the seventh level. This room became a store room for equipment.
There was one other room on the south side of that corridor which was used almost
exclusively for eye surgery during the early years of the hospital, but later on it was also
used for some minor surgery.

With the opening of Unit 4 1969, the surgical suite was moved to the south end of
level 1 in that unit. There were six rooms for major surgery in the new area, two rooms
for cystoscopy, a recovery room, an anesthesia workroom, a pre-op prep room and doc-
tors and nurses dressing rooms 9. In the mid 1970's, the wall between the two cystos-
copy rooms was removed and a larger room was made for cystoscopy plus other minor

sionally major ‘There wasa small room next o the
anesthesia workroom in the west corridor that had been used for minor surgery. It
became a pre-op prep room where IV's were started, medications given, and other nec-
essary preoperative preparation carried out.

‘With the advent of the University Project
Eight new operating rooms were added in level 1 of the new building where it abutied
on the Unit 4 operating room area. The original area was remodeled retaining two
operating rooms to bring the total to ten. In addition, there is 2 cystoscopy room and.




both the preoperative and recovery rooms were = xpanded. Thereis a new ancalicda
workroor fir
ing rooms,director and assistant director ofﬁces, front desk and supply areas,

With the increasing emphasis on reducing hospital stay and costs, more outpatient
surgical procedures are being done. In 1986, the University Hospital opened the Uni-
versity Surgical Center on level 2 of the Special Services Provision (the former College of
Nursing Building) (. Tt has four operating rooms, a preoperative aréa, and a recovery
area for patients (o recover from the effects of surgery or anesthesia before release.
‘There s also a waiting room for families.

'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL SURGICAL STATISTICS
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uch statisti shown in Table § for

surgical procedures. The first available records which could be found were for the year
January, 1934 to January, 1935. Annual figures atfive year intervals are used as they have
been for other statistcs in this history. There are a number of exceptions to this system
noted in the Table. No outpatient figures were available before 1977-78. All the figures
came from annual record room summaries based on monthly admitting offices figures
ashas been the case with other satstics. The outpatient figures for 197778 and 1982:83
are assumed to represent minor procedures carried out in the clinics. The figures for
1987:88 and 1991:92 are from the University Surgical Center

listed as major.

Contemporary surgical procedures have been enhanced by the use of sophisticated
equipment. In the early 1980's, the first operating microscope was purchased for the
operating rooms. Today, there are eight in the inpatient and outpatient surgical arcas.
‘The first laser was purchased around the same time. Today, there are three, a YAG, a
€02, and a KTKP. A Cryosurgery Unit has been aailable since the 1980's.

ANESTHESIA SERVICE

Since the Anesthesia Service, like Radiology and Clinical Laboratory, is considered a
hospital service, it seemed appropriate to provide some information on that service at
this point. This vas obtained from Dr. Denis Cuka, who indicated that he had talked to
Dr. John Barmore. As noted elsewhere in this history, Dr. McAvin, was in charge of
Anesthesiology, as well as Radiology and the drug room in 1917. Dr. McAvin adminis-
tered anesthesia from 1917 through 1943 and then on a part-Gme basis until 1951. Nurse
anestherists were also used from 1922 unil 1943. One or two nurse anesthetists were
employed subsequent to 1943, For several years in the carly 1970', the Anesthesiology
Department ran a Nurse Anesthesia Education Program. The program was discontin-
ued in 1975 and nurse anesthetists were no longer employed after that time.

In 1945, Dr. Dorothy Thompson, who was the firs boarded Anesthesiologist in Ne-
braska, consulted at the University Hospital. She was in private practice in Omaha. Dr.
MurialFrankand Dr. Lymn Thompon, subsequents came to Omaha, and vith Dr. Dor-
othy Thompson were the U pital on a rotat-
ing basis. In 1948, Dr. John Barmore became the first resident under their supervision.
Dr. Barmore, subsequently, leftfor the armed services.

From 1949 0 1952, Dr. Sager was the fullime Chairman of the Anesthesiology Ser-
vice. Iti hether or not: at time.

Dr. Barmore returned in 1952 and became Chairman of Anesthesiology. Apparentl,
residents were trained subsequent to his arrival, therefore, anesthesia services were per-




formed by Dr. Barmore, residents, and Dr. i 1962
and Dr. John Jones became Chairman shortly thereafter. Drs. Thompson and Frank
provided anesthesia services in the interim. With the arrival of Dr. Jones, a solid resi-
dency training program was esiablished and has been in place ever since. At the present
time, anesthesia services are provided by 17 staff anesthesiologists, most of whom are
board certified, and 26 residents,

LABOR AND DELIVERY

Itappears that the obstetrical service was on the fifth level of Unit 1 when the hospital
opened. In two histories of the College of Medicine ' the following appears. Inone
) there s  picture of the nursery on “the third floor” which would be level 5, and in the
other 1% it is noted that there were two wards for Obstetrics and Gynecology on “the
third floor”. Although no specific references could be found, it seems reasonable to
assume that the labor and delivery area was on the same floor.

In 1935, the interns quarter in the cast wing over the hospital entrance on the sixth
level of Unit 1 was remodeled into an obstetrical unit . The interns quarters were
moved o the fifth level of Unit 2. According to information provided by Dr. Joseph
Scott, in the 1950’ this delivery area had a central hall with a shower room on the left
(north) and a two bed labor room across the hall to the south. Sometimes a third bed
would be keptin the hall. There were two delivery rooms at the east end connected by
autility room. The larger room on the north was used for Caesarean sections when they
were required. The obsietrical ward was in the north wing. There were two private
rooms for very sick patients or postoperative recovery patients. In 1963, former resi-
dents donated funds to renovate one private room that was subsequently used for the
care of medical students and residents’ wives. The room was named the Sage room in
honor of a former department chairman. The remaining ward had eight beds on each
side and a sunroom at the end. The newborn nursery occupied the south wing. Infants
were brought to their mothers from there in a large wheeled multilotted cart. A com-
‘mon lavatory and shower area served the entire ward.

When Unit 4 din 1969 o the fourth level
of that unit. Two delivery rooms were located off the north side of the corridor across
from the elevator bank. Five labor rooms were available and there was a separate recov-
ery room. There were 15 rooms, private and semiprivate, in the two west corridors and
the north side of the cast corridor. The newborn nursery was located in the southeast
section of the floor. Approximately 10 years ago, a birthing room was added next (o the
delivery rooms.




'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL

ANNUAL OBSTETRICAL DELIVERIES
YEAR NUMBER REMARKS
19221923 187 | Figure for nine monts cnly, three months ook
avalale
19321933 577 | No roonts availae 19241931
1937.19%8 )
19421943 138
1947.194 n
19621963 914 | No records availble 1949-1961
1967-1968 109
19721973 1056
1977197 1309
19821983 1060 | Tocludes 161 deliverieson Femily Pracce Servies
19871988 1082 | locludes 168 deliveies on Family Practce Servics
19921993 1054 | locludes 134 delveieson Family Practce Servios

TABLE 9 Number o obstetical delveres o a period from July of one year 10 June of the
in five-year i 191

1932:33, 1952-

53 and 1957-58 oot available.

Table 9 reveals the annual volume of deliveries since 1922-23 with some omissions
because of lack of records. Also, the Table reveals that there have been deliveries car-

ried out by the Family Practice service for the last 10 years.




INTENSIVE CARE SERVICES

‘The first Intensive Care Unit at University of Nebraska Hospital was a pediatric unit
on the fifth level of Unit 2 which opened in June, 1967. It had eight beds . Adult
Intensive Care Units were opened November 5, 1969. An Adult Surgical Intensive Care
Unit of eight beds was opened on six west which was in the west wing on the sixth level of
Unit 4. An Adult Medical Intensive Care Unit of eight beds was opened on five west
which was in the west wing on the fifth level of Unit 4 .

The Adult Intensive Care Units were combined in 1981 when 16 bed unit was opened
on August 22. Ttwas located in the west wing on the fifth level of Unit 4. Private rooms
replaced the two “ward-like” units. Oxygen, suction, and electrical outlets were con-
tained within a “pover column” which was free standing in every room. This system was
the first for an Omaha hospital and allowed easier access to patients in crisis situations
1) At that ime, the Unit employed 53 full or part-ime nurses and cler

Under Dr. Gerald VanLeeuwen, Chairman of Pediatrics, a Neonatal Intensive Care
Unit was started in 1969 with a number of segregated “beds” in the newborn nursery in
the south wing of level 4 in Unit 4. In 1970, 2 separate unit was established within the
‘newborn nursery area. In October, 1979, 2 new 34 bed Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
was dedicated and opened in the same location on the fourth level 05",

The Pediatric Intensive Care Unit was remodeled, upgraded, and opened with ten
bedsin the same location in the south wing on level 5 of Unit 2 on September 22, 1980
). During remodeling, pediatric patients were admitied to the Adult Intensive Care

Unit.
In 199293, there were 816 patients admitted to the Adult Intensive Care Unit. From
198285, bone marrow transplant patients were cared for in the adult unit, but since
1985 an independent Oncology-Hematology Special Care Unit on the seventh level of
Unit4 has been opened. From 1985 through June of 1993, liver
cared for i either the Adult or Pediatric Intensive Care Units. Subsequently, an inde-
pendent Liver Transplant Unit has been opened. As of the present time, the Adult
Intensive Care Unit employs 69.4 FTE nurses and 12.2 FTE ancillary personnel.
At the present time, Pediatric Intensive Care Unit employs 24.5 FTE nurses and 2.6
FIE Intensive Care Unit employs 68 FTE nurses
and 6 FTE ancillary personnel.




TRANSPLANT PROGRAMS

ABone Marrow Transplantation Service, under the dircction of Dr. James Armitage,
was started at University Hospital in April, 1983 . The first patient was transplanted on
April 1, 1983, During the first year, 22 transplants were performed on 20 patients in-
cluding three children although a separate Pediatric Transplant Program was not in
place at that time. The number of transplantations increased each year and 111 were
performed in 1992, As of December, 1992, a total of 1,049 bone marrow transplanta-
tions had been performed at the University of Nebraska Hospital.

On June 18, 1984, the first peripheral stem cell transplant was performed. By De-
cember, 1992, a total of 350 peripheral stem cell transplants had been carried out.

At the beginning of the program, patients undergoing transplantation were cared
forin the Intensive Care Unit. In January, 1985, the first patient was admitied to a new
Oncology-Hematology Special Care Unit on the seventh level of Unit 4. The Unit con-
sisted of nine rooms which featured high efficiency particulate air filtration. The Unit
was full in six months. Later, a conference room was converted into  tenth patient
room. Between 1987 and 1989, an additional 20 rooms was converted into transplant
beds on the seventh level of Unit 4.

In July, 1987, Pediatric Transplant Program was initiated under the direction of Dr.
Peter Coccia. The number of pediatric bone marrow transplants has increased and
currently averages 25 per year. Pediatric patients were admitted originally to the sev-
enth floor transplant unit. In 1992, a separate five bed transplant unit featuring an
improved air fltration system was opened in the north wing on the sixth level of Unit 2.
‘This unit is used almost exclusively for pediatric patients.

In 199293, there were 389 admissions to the seventh floor unit and 63 admissions to
the new sixth level unit.

the time, there are ici ing the Adult

i fi i ic Trans-

plant Program. There are six physician assistants serving both pxogram Nurses and

clerks and other ancillary personnel are assigned to both programs as needed. There
are 52 nurses and 20 clerks or other personnel.

In 1985, a Liver Transplant Program was initiated under the direction of Dr. Byers
Shaw Jr. The first transplant was performed July 19, 1985 9. Fourteen were carried
outin 1985, nine adults and five children. The original staff consisted of two surgeons,
one nurse, and one secretary. Patients were admitted to the appropriate Intensive Care
Unit after surgery.

At the present time, the staff consists of four surgeons and six internists. Physicians
of the Internal Medicine Service were involved with the program from the outset since
the group headed by Dr. Michael Sorrell had an international reputation for rescarch
in liver di before the arted. Now wellas




the surgeons, are designated members of the team. In addition, the team has eight
fellows, two physician assistants, six nurses, three data coordinators, 20 secretaries and/
or ancillary help. In 1993, 131 transplants were performed on 93 aduls and 38 chil-
dren.

In February, 1989, a Pancreas Transplant Program was approved as a joint venture of
the University of Nebraska Medical Center and Clarkson Hospital, and on April 5, 1989
the first combined kidney-pancreas transplantation was performed at Clarkson Hospi-
tal. The program is under the direction of Dr. Robert Stratta and with rare exception,
the operations are performed at Clarkson Hospital. By the end of 1993, a total of 137
patients had undergone a pancreas transplant since the program started.

With the growth of the transplant programs, patients throughout the United States
and some foreign countries are now being referred to the University of Nebraska Medi-
cal Center for transplantation procedures.

CLINICAL LABORATORY

The information in this section was supplied by Dr. James Newland of the Depart-
ment of Pathology and Microbiology in consultation with Dr. Morten Kulesh, Through
the efforts of Dr. ]. Jay Keegan, who was to become Dean of the College of Medicine in
1925, a Medical Technologist, Miss Helen Wyandt, was recruited in 1923 to set up a
clinical laboratory at University Hospital ®V. Miss Wyandt was the first registered medi-
cal technologist in the State of Nebraska. She established the teaching program in
Medical Technology which has continued to the present time, now as a nationally recog-
nized baccalaureate program. In a clinical pathology textbook of that day, it was noted
thata table in the corner of the room was all that was necessary to perform laboratory
tests. The new laboratory was located in the northeast corner of the North Laboratory
building, the original building at the time the College of Medicine was established at
42nd Street and Dewey Avenue. Microbiology and histology laboratories and surgical
pathology were located here as well. Teaching laboratories were utilized in the base-
ment and second floor, and administrative offices were on the second floor. The first
fulktime clinical pathologist, Dr. Aura Miller, joined the department in 1926 and re-
‘mained until 1930. Dr. J. Perry Tollman, destined to become Chairman of Pathology
and Dean of the College of Medicine, joined the staff as a clinical pathologist in 1931.
At some point, the Clinical Laboratories were moved to the north wing of the ground
floor (level 3) of Unit 1 ofthe hospital. In the 1940's, they were moved 1o the southwest
corner of the level of Unit 2. Th m for chemistry, a small
room for hematology, a microbiology laboratory and a room far hisology. Laboratory
testing itive by present




measured using i Man prepared by the labora-
tory. For instance, thromboplastin, a reagent for prothrombin time, was prepared by
the laboratory using rabbit brains.

Dr. Morton Kulesh joined the staff as Director of Clinical Laboratories after complet-
ing residency training at University Hospital in 1951, He remained in the department
until 1965. Laboratory procedures remained labor-intensive and there was no automa-
tion until the late 1950’s. At that time, a Technicon dualchannel autoanalyzer was
obtained which provided glucose and blood urea nitrogen measurements. Present day
sophisticated multi-test analyzers were developed using the principles of these early in-
struments.

In 1962, vith the addition of Unit 3, the Clinical Laboratory moved to new facilities
on level 3in the north end of that unit. The laboratory began an explosive expansion in
sophisticated procedures that has continued to the present time. Automation came to
the hematology laboratoryin the form of the particle counting technology of the Coulter
Counter. Now, medical technologists had to depend less on the cumbersome and time-
consuming hemocytometer where counts were done by hand.

Dr. Arthur L. Larson became Director of Clinical Laboratories in 1965 and remained
unl 1982. When Unit 4 was opened in 1969, more space (4,000 sq. ft.) was added to
the Clinical Laboratory mostly on the fourth level which came about from the addition
of the north wing of Unit 4 on top of Unit 3. In 1979, after the addition of the clinic
building, the laboratory expanded into the third level of that facility adding 10,000 sq.
ft. of space. ratory d 10 be added. Much of
the credit for these advances lay with Dr. Guy Haven who was with the department from
1970 through 1982. In 1981, Dr. James Newland became Director of the Clinical Labo-
ratory and remained in that position until 1985.

Duting the 1980', immunology came to the fore in laboratory medicine with such

in reaction, DNA
probes. Dr. Dennis Weisenburger became Director of ubomwnes in 1985 and has
remained in that position until the present time. Presently, robotics is in development
for the laboratory under the guidance of Dr. Rodney Markin and a robotics delivery
system was inaugurated in 1993. The Clinical Laboratory now occupies approximately
95,000 square feet and could no longer occupy a table in the corner of the room.

Throughout this time, the Department of Pathology and Microbiology has provided
clinical services pertinent to the function of the hospital, such as interpretation of fro-
zen surgical specimens, permanent surgical tissue biopsy interpretation and diagnosis
and postmortem examinations.




'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL
CLINICAL LABORATORY STATISTICS

YEAR NUMBER OF REMARKS
PROCEDURES

*1930-1931 9218

19351936 21159

19521953 96933 | Figures for years 1922.23, 1927-28, 194243, 194748 and

1977-78 are not available

19571958 126147

19621963 203,004

19671963 23097

19721973 54068

+1983-1984 300,000

+1988-1989 610000

#1993-1994 1100000

#Figure not in usual five-year nterval sequence

TABLE 10 i the Clinical Laborsiores in a period strtng from July of
one year through June o the nex! in five-year intervals siarting from 1917, The figures for
1983 through 1994 are from the deparumental record system which s significanty different
from the previous hospita system. The 1993-94 figure is projected.

‘Table 10 shows the progressive increase in the volume of procedures performed in
the Clinical Laboratory. Figures through 197273 were obtained from the hospital record
room. Aftr that date, apparenly, there were 10 records kept by the hospial. The last
three setsof fg ined from the Clinical Lal  an

due to the two different record systems,




RADIOLOGY

When the hospital opened in 1917, x-ray facilities were located adjacent to and be-
neath the surgical amphitheater on the seventh level of Unit 1. They were operated by
the intern staff under the general supervision of Dr. James McAvin who was also in
charge of the drug room and anesthesiology. When Uit 2 vas opened in 1927, Xray

the ground floor (level 3) of that unit. In 1927,
the Board of R blished the Department of d Physical Medi-
cine and appointed Dr. Carter B. Pierce as chairman. Dr. Howard B. Hunt was ap-
pointed chairman in 1930 and served in that capacity until 1968. The department was
staffed enirely by parttime and voluntary faculty unil 1963 when the first full-ime
appointment was made. Fullime clinical staff increased from one in 1963 to 20in 1993,
Physical Medicine was separated from Radiology in 1955 when Dr. Duight Frost vas
appointed chairman of the new £ Physical Medicine and as
discussed in another section of this history.

Under Dr. Hunt, three separate divisions were established in Radiology. In 1931, the
department acquired 50 mgm of radium and the Radiation Therapy division was estab-
lished in addition to diagnostic radiology. In 1937, 2 250 KV deep x-ray therapy unit was
added. In 1961, Radiology was moved to level 1 of Unit 3 where it s silllocated and a
small Telecolbalt Unit was added to the Radiation Therapy division at that time. The
Eppley Radiation Center was initiated in 1966 and in 1968, an 18 MEV Betatron was
acquired. Subsequently,a 20 MEV linear accelerator was installed and additional equip-
ment has continued to be added as necessary to provide the best possible radiotherapy

ility. Table 1 shows the volume of services provided from 1952 o 1992.

In1947,a Medicine became ges
erally available from the Oak Ridge Atomic Energy Complex. The initial equipment

sils. Service greatly expanded as new and additional equipment was added to provide

i i ic studi i graphic
mapping of organic systems among others. The volume of services provided by this
division can also be found in Table 1.




'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL
RADIOLOGY DEPARTMENT STATISTICS

YEAR DIAGNOSTIC RADIOTHERAPY | NUCLEAR MEDICINE
PROCEDURES 'TREATMENTS PROCEDURES
19521953 11195 2375
19571958 14002 1732 52
19621963 15517 1835 B
19671968 2558 4843 2678
19721973 am 8717 44n
1977197 9545 10286 6963
1982-1983 54255 1087 7914
1987-1988 7.8
19911992 94792 12997 843

*Figure o in sul five-year interval sequence

TABLE 11 depﬂmmwﬂmm‘kwywnhmﬂl
1917,
o

1987-88. No igures st o gy o 196785,

Facilities and equipment for diagnostic radiology have increased in keeping with a
workload which has doubled every cight o ten years. The original floor space in Unit 1
was 200 square feet. Today, the total square footage within the department has grown to
over 33,000 squae fet. Radiographic cquipment hs progresed from gas tubes, glass

lates, induction coil high voltage aerials to
shockproofed eqipmen, ree phase mllhsecond generators, high speed rotating an-
pyand more. The
rlcvelopmenl of increasingly sophisicated radmloglc techniques and i things as se-
the acqui-

sition of more sophisticated and complex cqulpmenl.

‘The first Computed Tomography (CT) unit, a second generation EMI uni, was ac-
quired in 1975. It produced images of the head only. Itwas replaced in the summer of
1981 by a GE CT scanner which could produce images of other portions of the body in
addition to the head. A second CT unit was acquired in the summer of 1980 to handle
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the load which had increased t0 6,119 examinations in the year 1988:89. A Magnetic
Resonance Imaging (MRI) unit was installed in the fall of 1983 and a second MRI unit
was installed during the winter of 1992 and became operational in October, 1993. Dur-
ing 199192, 4,343 procedures had been performed on the firstunit. Table 11 shows the
annual volume of all diagnosiic radiologic procedures from 1952 t0 1992.

PHYSICAL, OCCUPATIONAL
AND RECREATIONAL THERAPY

Mr. Raymond Breed, Cox Physical, Occupati Recreational Therapy,
was kind enough o provide the following information on these hospital services. In
1927, Dr. Carleton Pierce was appointed Chairman of Roenigenology and Physical
Therapy. Physical therapy services were actually provided under a contract with the
Visiting Nurses Association. This continued until 1952 when J. Robert Amick, RP.T. was
hired as the first full-time physical therapist. In 1955, physical med s separated
from radiology, and the Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, under the
direction of Dr. Dwight Frost, lished. In 1956, Dr. ‘multi-
disciplinary rehabilitation center at Douglas County Hospital.

The physical therapy department at University Hospital was housed in a small area on
the third level of the south laboratory building. This area served both inpatients and
outpatients. Inpatients from University Hospital were taken by wheelchair or gurney
outside by the east entrance of the hospital to the northwest entrance of the South
Laboratory building in all kinds of weather.

In 1963, when other outpatient clinics were moved to Unit 3 of the hospita, the
South Laboratory building was remodeled; a large new Physical Therapy Clinic with new
and expanded equipment now occupied the entire third level of the South Laboratory
building except for the amphitheater. A tunnel was also constructed connecting the
South Laboratory building to the hospital which eliminated moving patients outside.
Th g Projectalso pr patient waiting room and
dlassrooms.

Dr. Frost resigned as director in 1967, and Dr. Russell Blanchard became director. In
1976, the department stopped providing service at Douglas County Hospital. This re-
sulted in some changesn the staff because a number had been paid by both the Univer-
sity and Douglas County. These individuals served University Hospital on a fourmonth
rotation. Only those who received all of their salary from the Medical Center remained
at the University Hospital. Shordl after Dr. Blanchard resigned, it was decided not to
replace him with another physician. M. Ray Breed was named the first non-physician
directorand th s of the University Hospital rath




than the College of Medicine/Medical Center. It was renamed the Department of Physical
‘Therapy at University Hospital.

In July, 1977, the service was expanded by the addition of Occupational Therapy and
Kathy Mahaffey Dudley was hired as the first occupational therapist and the name was
changed to the Department of Physical and Occupational Therapy. In 1978, the depart-
ment moved to an arca on the south side of level four of the hospital in Unit 9 plus a
smaller unit on level 6 in Unit 4. By this time, the department had grown to three staff
physical therapists, a physical therapy clinical supervisor, an occupational therapist, two
aides and a full-ime secretary.

In 1980, Sports Physical Therapy was added and in 1982 the department expanded to
include the entire south wing on the fourth level in Unit 2 to accommodate Sports
Physical Therapyand other phases of the department which were also growing. In 1986,
the Occupational Therapy section and hydrotherapy which had been on the sixth level
moved to the fourth level in space formally occupied by Biomedical Communication.

'UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA HOSPITAL
PHYSICAL MEDICINE DEPARTMENT STATISTICS

YEAR "PHYSICAL THERAPY OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY
INPATIENT | OUTPATIENT | INPATIENT | OUTPATIENT
19521953 1033
19571958 3810
19621963 12037
19671963 3812
19721973 am2
19771978 4109
1982-1983 7239
1987-1988 568 6133 93 a4
*1991-1992 7062 7,000 357 1360
*Figure no in usual five-year interval

g s vesment 8 Dovgs Coety Hospal

TABLE 12 Nmbudmmmpa{mmdwwmh & period strting n July
and extending June of the next year in five-year intervals
nxt\mg a1 1917, No figures available from 1917 10 1952.
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Table 12 shows the number of services provided annually in five year intervals from
195253 to 1991-92. In recent years, the complexity of the inpatient population has
changed significantly secondary to the advent of the liver and bone marrow transplant
programs. When the department was located in the South Laboratory building seldom,
if ever, was a patient with an IV running brought to the department for therapy. Now
patients who have as many as four IV pumps running at the same time are receiving
physical therapy. Also, the patient load h; d members of
the department are challenged to communicate in many different languages.

When the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute became part of the University Hospital, its
occupational and recreational therapy programs were merged with the hospital pro-
grams to form the Deparument of Physical, Occupational and Recreational Therapy.
Since the Geriatric Rehabilitation Program opened in 1988, physical and occupational
therapy had been provided to its patients.

Lastly, in 1990, physical therapy services were started at Lutheran Hospital when Uni-
versity Hospital East opened at that facility. Also, the Sports Physical Therapy section
left to develop a private practice in West Omaha with both the former Medical Center
Sports Medicine phy

RESPIRATORY THERAPY-PULMONARY MEDICINE

Information for this section was provided by Mr. Michael Luethge, Manager of Respi-
ratory Care Services. In April, 1969, Mr. Herbert Greshen, was hired by the hospital as
the first Inhalation Therapist which was the title used at that time for Respiratory Thera-
pist. The department was located on the south side of the corridor connecting Unit 2
with Unit 4 on the fourth level,

Common types of respiratory care employed at that time were oxygen therapy, inter-
mittent positive pressure breathing (IPPB) acrosol therapy, postural drainage and me-
chanical ventilation. The latter and IPPB were provided via Bird Mark 7 or Puritan-
Bennett PR respirators. Medical direction for Inhalation Therapy was provided by the
physicians of the pulmonary medicine staff. Mr. Greshen left after one year and was
replaced by Mr. Samuel Schroeder who remained for seven years. During that time, a
number of changes occurred. The department grew to ten therapists and technicians,
the designation “Inhalation Therapy” was changed to Respiratory Therapy, medical di-
recton vas tranfered 1o the Anesthesiology Department where it remains, and some

g staff were shifted to the Respiratory

Therapy Dcpanmem_

In the early 1980's, two spe ps of Respiratory Th loped to meet
pecific needs at University Hospital. A small group of Respxralon Therapists were
‘moved into the Anesthesiology Department to provide diagnostic and monitoring sup-




port to patients in the operating rooms and recovery areas. Also, at the same time, a
similar need for specialized lh:mp‘su were met for patients scen by the Pediatric
p sill providing specialized Respira-

vice.
tory Care to these patient popularions.

In 1983, the department was moved to the northeast corridor space on the sixth level
of Unit 4in space previously occupied by the Adult surgical Intensive Care unit. In 1988,
the department’s administrative functions were moved next to the clinical facilities on
the sixth level where it remains to the present time. It now occupies approximately
2,300 square feet, the staff has increased to 60 therapists and technicians and four sup-
port staff.

‘The department now provides services on average to 50% of the patients admitted to
the hospital. It monitors and supports 25 patients per day on mechanical ventilation
and provides approximately 6,500 treatments/ therapies per month. In addition to sup-
port for patients on ventilators, the department provides breathing treatments for pa-

ther obstructive pulmonary di
by physicians, postural drainage treatments in the pauem s rooms, some intermittent
positive pressure an p

“The Pulmonary Laboratory which provides diagnostc pulmonary srvices began in
1968 under the direction of Dr. Irving Kass, Chief of Pulmonary Medicine at that time.
Dr. Kass conducted a study of pulmonary secretion techniques which resulted in the
creation of therapy now referred to as *postural drainage and percussion” still employed
today. At that time, patients with excessive pulmonary secretions were brought to the
pulmonary laboratory for treatment since the laboratory had the only special table to
tilt patients into the proper drainage position. With the advent of hospital beds which
allowed the patients to be lted to the head down position, treatment can now be car-
ried outin the patients' rooms by Respiratory Therapists.

The Pulmonary Laboratory was initially located on level 1 of Unit 3, in the area now
occupied by the Radiology file room. When the operating rooms were moved from the
seventh floor of Unit 1 to level 1 of Unit 4, the Pulmonary Laboratory was moved into
the vacated space on that level of Unit 1 where it remains to the present time.

‘Today, a staff of seven, under the direction of Pulmonary Medicine physicians, pro-
vides pulmonary function testing, pulmonary stress testing, assists physicians with bron-
choscopies, provides laboratory analysis of pulmonary washings obtained by lavage for

‘monitoring and instruction to pat d families
for respiratory care.




PHARMACY

In 1917, Dr. James McAvin, who supervised the x-ray facility and anesthesiology, was
also in charge of the drug room which presumably constituted the pharmacy at that
time. Apparently, it was located on the ground floor (level 3) of Unit 1. The first
pharmacist to work at University Hospital, Mr. Fred Larson, was employed sometime in
the mid 1940's. Mr. Robert Connor, who provided most of the information for this
section, came to work at the University Hospital in June, 1956. He confirmed that the
pharmacy was located in a small area on level 3 of Unit 1 at that time.

The pharmacy was approximately 10 feet by 30 feet andall servics o nursing units,

from thatarea.

filled for patients seen in the outpatient clinics in the South Laboratory building. At
that time, there was no tunnel connecting that building to the hospital and the trip in
winter and inclement weather was anything but pleasant. Drugs were supplied to the
nursing units as floor stock. A drug basket was bought to the pharmacy each morning
from each nursing unit and filled and delivered back to the unit by pharmacy. Intrave-
nous fluids and administration sets were stored in a small room on level 6 of Unit 2
adjacent to the central supply department.

Tn 1962, the department moved to Unit 3. The outpatient pharmacy was located on
level 2 near the outpatient area on the north side. Inpatient pharmacy was located on
level 1 immediately below the outpatient area.

In 1970, the department moved to level 2 of Unit 4 where both inpatient and outpa-
tient services were located in the same area. The window for outpatient service was
located just to the east of the elevator bank in the main lobby area of the hospital.
Entrance to the inpatient pharmacy was at the east end of the corridor which was south
of the lobby and central elevator bank. Both the inpatient and the outpatient services
were contiguous, forming one large pharmacy area.

‘When the University of Nebraska Clinic Building was opened in 1977, the pharmacy
again relocated to a larger area in Unit 3 adjacent to the clinic building, actually a part
of the new and expanded outpatient pharmacy extended into the new building. Both
outpatient and inpatient services were provided in the same location. In 1993, with the
opening of the Outpatient Care Center, outpatient pharmacy moved to the westend of
level 2in that building, and inpatient tothe location south
and east of the central elevator bank on level 2 of Unit 4.

‘Asan interesting historical note, Mr. Connor noted that a formulary had been devel-
oped and published in 1934 ®9. It vas developed by the Formulary Committee of the

book and was somewhat unique in that very few, if any, hospitals had nch st
easily available to their staff at that time.



No figures arc available for the type or volume of service provided by the drug room
and/or pharmacy prior to 1956. In that year, the pharmacy spent $64,000 for supplies
and on a busy day flled 40 jons. Tn 199293, supplies cost $15,000,000 and 680
prescriptions were filled on a busy day. In 1936, the pharmacy was staffed by one full-
time and one half-ime pharmacist. In 1993, the pharmacy employs 38 pharmacistsand
41 ancillary personnel.

MATERIALS SUPPORT SERVICES

Information for this section was obtained from Mr. Mickey Bradshaw, the present
Director, plus several other sources.

In 1947, the Central Service Department was started by Irma Kyle, Director of Nurs-
ing with the support of the Dean of the College of Medicine 1%, It remained under the
nursing service until 1969 when it vas assxgned © Pharmacy Prior to 1969, sterlization
function nd P room, assume
lcspons\bllm for that task. Pnor 01947 hen the ccnu’al supply service was started,

terlizaton (. gloves, needlen tubing) was done at Central Supply, however, instru-
‘ments and trays were only wrapped there and subsequently sterilized in the operating
room. The name, “Sterile Services” as well as “Central Supply Service” was applied to
the department and no documentation could be found as to whether they were used
interchangeably at the same time or represented a name change at a specific time.

In 1969, Mr. Milton Exline became Director and reported to Pharmacy. The depart-
‘ment began sterilizing instruments in addition to the wrapping and the department
name was officially named Sterile Services. In 1973, the responsibility of ordering, re-
cewmg and delivering disposable items was added to the department. In 1980, the
M was added and the depk began to report to hospital
adminisration. In 1980, the department name vas changed to Medical Materil Ser-
vices.

‘The Messenger Service first came into being in 1965. The first messengers were asso-
ciated with the Prior to that time did most of
the errand running. Tt gradually expanded and by 1969, it covered the endre hospital
and clinic area 1.

‘When the Central Service Department was started, it was located in the north wing on
the sixth level of Unit 2 and remained there until 1969 when it moved to level 2 of Unit
4opposite the south elevator bank. Interestingly, a hospital floor plan of the early 1940's
shows an area on level 2 of Unit 2 labeled Central Supply. No specific information could
be found to document the function of this area. It was assumed by individuals in Facili-




ties Management that it may have been an area where all goods for the hospital was
delivered and subsequently dispersed.

In 1982, the department acquired the laundry service. In 1992, the campus motel
(University House) was added to its responsibilities and its name was changed to Materi-
als Support Services. In 1993, the department moved to its present location on level 1 of
the Outpatient Care Center. At the present time, the department is responsible for
sterile services (i and tray supply di of
‘medical disposable produc!s) messenger services, University House, and the laundry.

FOOD SERVICE

When the hospital opened, the food service kitchens and the cafeteria were located
on the third level of Unit 1 on the south side. Food for patients was prepared and
dispensed from that area as well as for the cafeteria which, in these carly days, provided
service to the medical and nursing staff, house officers, student nurses and some other
employees but not to visitors or outpatients. No other specific detailed information
could be found. In 1969, with the completion of Unit 4, the food service kitchens and
cafeteria were moved to the south wing on the third level of that Unit. New facilities also
included several private dining rooms which could be used for meetings. These were
along the west side of the hospital extending south from the main cafeteria room and
accessible from it.

1n 1977, it was decided that an outsi would enh d service
management expertise. Accordingly,in January 1978, ARA Food Service took over re-
sponsibility of all food service operations. By July, 1986, SAGA, Inc. contracted the
management of the food service. At that time, the cafeteria serving and seating areas
underwent extensive renovation. Shortly afier SAGA became the food service manage-
ment firm, the company merged with Marriott Food Services. Marriott has continued
10 provide the food management service since that time. The operation has been con-
verted to a scratch cooking model which has allowed improvement in the quality of
services in all areas of patient meals, cafeteria, and catering of special functions in the
private dining rooms.

There are no early figures available on the volume of services provided, however,
there are some recent comparisons. In 198586, 132,616 patient trays were served com-
pared to 173,484 in 1992-93. In 1985-86 there were 319,217 cafeteria servings compared
10 942,881 in 1992-93, and 132,616 catered meals compared to 173,484 at present. De-
spite the significant increase in cafeteria servings, the seating capacity of the cafeteria
was reduced from 425 in 198586 to 236 at the present time. This apparent paradox s
accounted for by the fact that the majority of meals prepared in the cafeteria now are
takeout. Recent figures show that during the busiest tme from 11:00 a.m. t0 1:00 p.m.,
the cafeteria serves an average of 1,700 meals per day, 65% of which are takeout.
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Ms. Glenda Woscyna was kind enough to provide the following information on the
Clinical Dietetic Services. She was unable to trace back beyond the late 1950's. There
was a fouryear degree with a major in dictetics offered at the University of Nebraska at
Lincoln by 1910 so that it was possible that a dietician could have been hired when the

hospital opened.
‘The author wasable to. in from Dr, Edward whowas a medical stud
in 1931 that Ms. Angela Phili Hospital dietician at that tim

married Dr. Clarence Bantin, a member of the medical taff, and Dr. Harry McFadden
recalld that she was sl the hospitalditicianin the arly 1940

In the late 1950's, ian food
service management and clinical nutrition services. Clinical services consisted of pro-
viding foods which met special dietary needs during the hospital siay. In 1960, a second
fullime dictician was hired and by the late 1960's, Registered Dieticians became in-
volved in the treatment of outpatients, providing counseling services for a diabetes man-
agement, weight loss and other chronic dietary related treatments.

In 1971, the firstdieteric technician was hired to pass and pick up menus and address
nutition needs of patients not at nurition risk, Registered Dieticians began to take a
much more active role in helping o guide nutritional care for patients with specific
nuritional needs. Use of tube feeding and parenteral nutrition was implemented to
‘meet nutritional needs of patients unable to tolerate oral feedings. An increased teach-
ing/counseling role emerged in the outpatient clinics for dieticians helping patients
manage their normal and special dietary needs.

In 1977, the Division of Medical Nutrition Education was founded in the School of
Allied Health Professions in order to sponsor 2 post-baccalaureate dietetic internship
program to train students studying to become Registered Dieticians. The dietetic in-
ternship program was 12 months in length and unique in that it included a consulting
dietetics rotation in many areas of Nebraska where small hospitals and long-term care
faciliies contract with consulting dieticians for specific management and patient care
services instead of hiring a fullime or partime dietician, Class size for this program
was small due to the experiential nature of the training. Classsize was four students per
year in 1987 and has risen to six students per year at the present time.

‘The saff of clinical dieticians and dietetic technicians continued to grow during the
1970's and 1980's. As physicians identified a need for increasing dietician services for
specific patient populations, e.g. Pediatric Cardiology, gastrointestinal disorders, diabe-
tes; the dieticians became increasingly specialized. Patients were assigned to dieticians
byservice inscad of by inpatient unit. Thisallowed the dicticans o be nvolved in the

throughout the i ‘medical therapy. At the
present time, the staff consists of seven full-Gme and four parttime clinical dieticians.




‘Through the years,asa part of an increasing, progressive Medical Center, the hospital
has sponsored several nontraditional programs. The Pain Center, the Eating Disorders
Program, and the Geriatric Center are worthy of inclusion in this history.

PAIN CENTER

In 1973, Dr. . Miles Skultety and Dr. Bradley Berman recognized the need for a
treatment program for individuals with chronic benign pain V. The program was
called, The Pain Management Center, and admitted itsfirst patients February 16, 1973.
‘The staff included the two physicians, three nurses, two aides, a physical therapist, a
psychologist and a social worker. The program was an intensive application of educa-
tional, behavioral, and medicinal procedures designed to rehabilitate patients with
chronic benign pain syndromes. This syndrome was defined as pain which had been
present for at least 12 months, had not responded to standard medicaksurgical proce-
dures, and did not arise from a physical cause which, of tself, or life threat-
ening; i.c., not due to malignancy or other potentially fatal discases.

Patients were admitted as inpatients and remained for four weeks, although this was
not a fixed period of time. They were involved in medication reduction programs,

ling, iz workim,cy it i 1is laxation and
therapy, pain i ograms. Daily group
exercise programs were held at the Meyer’s Children's Rchabxllmnon Institute
swimming pool.

In 1975, the program was modified to require the patients to return to their homes
for the weekend. An evaluation of resuls to that time revealed that clents needed to
practice in the h ge, those pain kills and
behavioral changes which were initiated while at the Pain Management Center.

When the program started in 1973, it was located in the north wing on the seventh
level of Unit 2 of the hospital. In 1978, it was moved to the forth level of the Specialty
Services Pavilion, and in 1990 to the south annex of the University Geriatric Center,
formally the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute.

Through the years, the program was modified for a number of reasons including
among others fiscal and space restraints and changes in treatment concepts. In 1984,
patients stayed in rooms in Lmvcrsuv House which was 2 ‘motel” or outpatients and
relatives run Pasilion. In 1985,

24 hours per day was ehmitaed, a5t searmentws feduced i fea hours per day.
This was reduced to eight hours per day in 1986. During this same year, the program
lost its direct coverage from the Social Work department, and the first outpatient pain




clinic was opened. It was staffed by two physicians, a neurosurgeon and an internist,
plus a physical therapist, a psychologist and a nurse. During the first year, two clinics
were established, one staffed by the neurosurgeon and one by the internist.

From its inception, the pain program was under the medical direction of the Depart-
‘ment of Neurosurgery. In 1985, it became co-administered by Neurosurgery and Psy-
chology. In 1991, it was administered through the Department of Psychology, and as of
1993 the Department of Anesthesiology.

In 1989, one outpatient clinic was under the medical direction of Neurosurgery and.
asecond under Anesthesiology. More traditional medical treatments were included as
options for patients. These included an evaluation for surgically implanted dorsal col-
umn simulators, morphine pumps and a wide variety of anesthesiology techniques.

In 1990, the term “Pain Center” was used to designate the enire spectrum of pain-
related medical services available at the University of Nebraska Medical Center. At that
time, the pain services included: 1) three pain clinics for evaluation, two administered
by Anesthesiology and one by Neurosurgery, 2) follow-up visits, 3) outpatient medical
intervention for pain, 4) outpatient psychology services, 5) specialized outpatient physi-
cal therapy services for pain, and 6) the Pain Management Center Rehabilitation Pro-

ram.

By 1993, the Pain Center pain treatment acute pain, can-
cer pain,and chronic pain. There are now four pain clinics run by Anesthesiology and
one run by : The staff two
two psychologists, two physical therapists, three nurses and one full-ime and one part-
time secretary.

The number of patients who have been treated in the Pain Management Program
has varied litdle in the 20 years since it started and averages about 50 patients per year
who complete the entire four week program. The number of patients seen in the var
ous pain clinics increased from 100 during the first year of 1986-87 to 377 in 1991-92.

EATING DISORDERS PROGRAM

Information for this section was provided by Dr. James Madison, Program Develop-
‘ment Coordinator of the Eating Disorders Program. The program was established in
1983 under the medical direction of Dr. Paul Pearson with offices in the Swanson Cen-
ter 07, The initial staff consisted of one doctoral level therapist who was trained in
Peychology but not licensed, one master level therapist and a part-time nutritionist. At
that time, there were three staff offices, a secretarial office, a group room, and an exam-
ining room in the Swanson Center. Inpatients were housed on the general adult medi-
cal/surgical floors or on the general pediatric floor of the University Hospital.



The program provides both inpatient and outpatient services for individuals with an-
orexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa. When the program started, emphasis was given to
hospitalized patients. Hospitalization lasted four to ten weeks. Despite many accommo-
dations and effort by the nursing staff on the general hospital floors, it was not possible
to provide adequate monitoring of the program’s patients when they were not directly
participating in therapeutic activity with the staff.

In 1988, the program was moved to the University Geriatric Cénter (formerly the
Nebraska Psychiatric Institute Building). The unit has eight patient rooms, adjacent
staff offices, a reception area, examining room, patient areas including 2 lounge and a
kitchen. The nursing staffis dedicated to the unit and not involved with other patients.

The inpatient pogram now consst f daly ndividual prchotherapy and muriton
counseliny nuition
and leisure actvities, group exercise programs several times per week, and almost al!
meals ae taken on the unit under the supervison of the murse. Individual and group

the weekend, but the p: gaged in therapeutic
activities with the nursing staff.

e need treatment for

severe enough to warrant hospitalization vas apparent from the beginning of the pro-
gram. Accordingly, two outpatient programs were developed. One is the Intensive
Outpatient or Day Hospital Program. Patients are on the unit from 7:30 a.m. to approxi-
‘mately 9:00 p.m. five days a week. They engage in the same program as do the inpa-
tients. If they live locally, they return home at night. If they are from outof-town, they
sleep at University House at night. The second program consists of multiple outpatient
individual therapy and nutrition counseling sessions per week plus a weekly therapy
group. This isfor those in the
inpatient or intensive outpatient programs.

‘A third outpatient program has been initiated recently to treat individuals suffering
from compulsive eating. It is delivered in a series of outpatient groups over a 20 week
period. Individual psychotherapy and nutritional counseling is provided as needed.

Atthe present time, the staff consists of Dr. Dean Antonson who took over as Medical
Director in 1989, three doctoral level psychologists al licensed and certified in Clinical
Pychology, three masters level therapistsallcertified in their respective filds, one fll-

time and three half-ime di five nurses, two nursing aids
and one part-ime aid, an office manager and secretary.
During the firt three years of the

cach year. During the pastyear, 144 new patients were exaluated. The current active
patient load is 107.



UNIVERSITY GERIATRIC CENTER

During 1988, appropriate modifications were made at the former Nebraska Psychiat-
ric Institute to develop facilities for the University Geriatric Center. Itis located on two
floors in 20,000 square feet 1 and is under the direction of Dr. Jane Potter, Associate
Professor of Internal Medicine and chief of the section of Geriatrics and Gerontology.

The Geriatric Outpatient Clinic is located on the main floor. It contains six handi-
capped accessible examination rooms, a conference room and offices. The clinic oper-
atesfive days per week and has had over 5,500 visits of geriatric patients up to the present
time.

‘The Geriatric Rehabilitation Unit is located on the third floor directly above the out-
patientarea. Itis a 30 bed inpatient unit whose function is to assess the functional ability
of post hospitalization geriatric patients with a plan to strengthen and increase their
endurance in preparation to returning home or to their previous environment. Services
are provided by comprised Iwork-
ers, physical, occupational, recreational and speech therapists, dieticians and pharma-
cists. An interdenominational chapel service is held on the unit once a week and there
is an on-site radiology room for simple x-rays to reduce the necessity of returning to the
hospital for follow-up x-rays.

The unit containsa large central dining room with exira lights, sk

ghts, numerous
e

, apiano and plants. Thi activity
Thereisa kitchen and practice bathroom which are utlzed t help patients to make the
transition back into a Amplified telephon were installed

for the hearing impaired and a large physical and occupational therapy room is located
on the unit. Since opening in Janvary, 1989, 1,290 patients have been cared for in the
Geriatric Rehabilitation Unit.

In addition to the Outpatient Clinic and ilitation Unit, a 14 bed
Inpatient Unit is lncaled arl]zcem to the Rehzbl.l\munn Unit. Patients in the umt zre
treated for dementiainclud Itis handi-
capped : accesslbl and has an open and homey environment similar to the Geriatric

The ‘Team consists of nurses, so-

cial workers, recreational nutritionist
sion from an adult psychiatric unit five years ago, over 815 elderly patients have been
treated.

When the University Geriatric Center opened in 1989, the staff consisted of three
geriatricians, two geropsychiatrists and a staff of 100 nurses and ancillary personnel.
Today, there are five geriatricians, four geropsychiatrists and over 150 staff.




SOCIAL WORK SERVICE

Most of the information in this section was kindly provided by Florence M. Hansen
who was Director of the Social Work Service Department from 1968 to 1986. Medical
social services were first offered to patients in 1924, but the medical social workers went
off to other hospitals after a few years . There is insufficient information to actually
document social services rendered during this early period. It is known that public
health nurses helped patients in making plans for discharge and following physicians’
recommendations. ~ Also, Ms. Evelyn Schellak, who was to become the first Director,
worked as a student aid for a semester.

Ms. Schellak was appointed the first Director of the Social Service Department on
August 1, 1947 i aster of t the Mandel
School of Applied Social Sciences, of Case Western Reserve University in Cleveland.
During her firstfew years, Ms. Schellak encouraged each of two medical social workers
from Cleveland to help her in different years to train some young women who had
college majors in sociology. Subsequently, she was able to recruit some social workers
and usually had a staff of three including herself plus two secretaries.

In February, 1957, Florence M. Hansen joined the saff. She also graduated from the
‘Mandel School of Applied Social Sciences with a Master of Science in social administra-
tion. Ms. Hansen was involved with the University Hospital's program in Physical Medi-

ineand t Douglas Cot pital. In November, 1961, she left Omaha
jon as 2 Medical Social Consultant with the Oregon State Public Welfare
Commission in Salem. She returned to the hospital Social Service Department in July,
1967, as Assistant Director.

In addition to providing services to University Hospital patients and families, the So-
cial Service Department has been actively engaged in community activities and local,
regional and national professional activties since its inception. Ms. Schellak was in-
volved in the National Association of Social Workers, Nebraska Welfare Association and
Nebraska Affilates of the American Heart Association, American Cancer Society and
the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People to name just a few.
She retired as Director on September 30, 1968 and Ms. Hansen became Director.

In September, 1967, a supervised field work program was started by Ms. Hansen at the
request of the Director of the University of Nebraska School of Social Work in Lincoln.
This has continued as an ongoing program. She served on the Board of the Society
Hospital Social Work Directors, a component of the American Hospital Association, in
1970, 1978 and 1979, The department sponsored annual conferences for community
social workers in 1971, 1972 and 1973, and Ms. Hansen conducted workshops for hospi-
1l social work directors and stffs in Nebraska and neighboring states from 1969 to
1985.




Due to the fact thata large percentage of graduate social work students were from the
Omaha area, Dean Perry Tollman and Ms. Hansen, together with many Omaha social
workers, encouraged the transfer of the School of Social Work to the University of Ne-
braska at Omaha. This was accomplished in 1972,

In the mid 1970’s, the University Hospital Administration made an agreement with
the Bureau of Indian Affairs to house a community health representative in the Social
Service Department. This representative provided services to members of the Indian
nations from Nebraska and North and South Dakota and also consulted with the medi-
cal social workers on medical-social problems and discharge planning. This arrange-
ment continued through 1985.

Ms. Hansen retired in July, 1986. At that time, the staff consisted of the director, 15
social workers and two sccretaries. Mr. Dennis O'Neill, MSW, was appointed Director of
the Social Work Service. He terminated his position as of December 31, 1986. In Sep-
tember, 1987, Ms. Jane Adkinson, Ph.D., became Director and served until September,
1989, She was followed by Judith Dierkhising, Ph.D., who served until December 31,
1993, At the present time, Susan Stensland, MSW, is serving as Interim Director. At this
time, there are 17 FTE social workers and three FTE secretaries assigned to the depart-
ment.

ITY OF NEBRASKA H(
SOCIAL SERY ‘SERVICES DEPARTMENT STATISTICS
YEAR | CASELOAD.

1952195 a2
19571958 )
15621963 257
1567196 s
172197 18316
1977197 05
15621983 w50

TABLE 13 Numberat i periodsaing i Jly o ooy

ol e o o s i veyer
1917, No recrt a 1952, Record sy st cics

‘Table 13 shows the case load of the department from 1952:53 through 1982.83. Sub-
sequently, the manner of the workload has been changed at least two times
and there are no comparable figures. Suffice it to say, that the workload has continued
to increase as the complexity of the services rendered at the University Hospital has
increased.
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PASTORAL CARE SERVICES

Pastoral Care Services have been provided at the University of Nebraska Hospital
since 1952, originally through th principal spport of the Nebraska Lutheran Social
Service Agency (NLSS) and by the Nebraska Synod - Evangelical Lutheran
Church of America (40,164). The Rex: Loren C. Pretty was installed January, 1952, to be
institutional chaplain in the Lincoln area and to direct chaplaincy services throughout
the State for Lutheran people. This included the University Hospital. In September,
1954, the Rev. Dayton G, Van Deusen was assigned to call on Lutheransin Omaha hospi-
tals. The Omaha Council of Churches proposed that he also represent them at the
University of Nebraska Hospital which he did ®. He did not have an office at the
hospital butworked out of his home. Catholic patients were primarily served by the staff
of St. Cecelia’s Parish 0.

In June, 1957, the Rev. Frank Moyer became chaplain. Rev. Van Deusen had left in
December, 1956, on assignment to New York Gity. Eighty-percent of Reverend Moyer's
time was spent at University Hospital and the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute. He also
called on outstate Lutheran patients at Clarkson and St. Joseph Hospitals. Beginning in
1958, the University Hospital. provided office space for Chaplain Moyer. In 1962, he
joined the faculty of the Department of Psychiatry at the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute.
He was replaced by the Rev. Wallace Wolff. At that time, the hospital administration
designated Chaplain Wolff as the “Protestant Chaplain® and his ministry was to be inclu-
sive of people of allfaiths. The Omaha Council of Churches contributed §1,200 per year
to the NLSS program. A State Supreme Court decision in the carly 1960's, permitting
religioussrvices o be held i a room wihin the buildings in the Vedical Center cam-
pus, 4 led of some servi if perso

Chaplain Wolff resigned in August, 1965, to become chaplain at lmmanucl Mcdlcal
Center. Chap i i
Lundahl, 2 seminary student and fulltime Ghaplain ntern in 1965.66 and par(-umc in
1966-67. Students of the Clinical Pastoral Education Program at Immanuel Medical
Center, under the supervision of Chaplain Al Anderson, called on patients at University
Hospital until March, 1969.

e NLSS was discontinued in December, 1966, and the Nebraska Synod became
directly involved in the chaplaincy program at University Hospital. This was coordi-
nated with one of the assistant hospital administrators giving departmental head status
to the “Protestant” chaplain at the Medical Center. In selecting 2 new chaplain, a search
committee from the Medical Center interviewed applicants and suggested their choice
1o the Nebraska Synod Executive Board for official action.

 The Rev Wallace Wolff returned to become chaplain in 1969. By this ime, the posi-

s flltime. In 1974, ion room was built notonly
for he chaplain, but also for many other members of the hospital staff. The primary
intent was to provide a quiet place for prayer and meditation for ambulatory patients
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and their relatives. Chaplain Wolff played a key role in its design and building. Funds
were provided by the Medical Center Women's Club, House Officer’s Wives Club, Col-
lege of Medicine Alumnae Association, University of Nebraska Foundation, Hospital
Volunteer's Gift Shop, and some private donors. Chaplain Wolff resigned in March,
1975, and the Rex. Merton Lundquist became Chaplain in August of 1975. The chap-
laincy became involved in teaching, conducting seminars with students, serving on vari-
ous appropriate committees and participating in multi-disciplinary clinical meetings.

Chaplain Lundquist retired in 1989 and the Rev. Gary Sproat became chaplain. In
January, 1989, Fr. David LaPlante was assigned by the Archdiocese of Omaha as Coordi-
nator of Catholic Pastoral Care at the University Hospital and Clarkson Hospital. The
chaplaincy department was expanded, and in 1990-91 consisted of a full-time director of
pastoral services (Chaplain Sproat), a 0.5 FTE Associate Director, a full-time secretary
whowasa direct employee of University of Nebraska Medical Center, Rex: Sanford Smith,
a retired baptist minister who provided over 20 hours of volunteer services per week,
Rev. Mark Seem, a Lutheran Pastor, who provided four hours per week, two lay volun-
teerswho visited out-oftown Lutheran patients, Catholic lay communion ministers who
‘made daily rounds, and the Coordinator of Catholic Services who shared office space
and secretarial services.

With the change in the organization of hospital administration, as discussed else-
where, Pastoral Care Service was no longer a separate department but reported to the
manager of Social Work Service. In January, 1993, the Archdiocese of Omaha reas-
signed Fr. LaPlante but did not replace him. The Pastoral Care Service has worked with
St Cecelia’s Cathedral 0 esablish  prograim of on-<all prists and & prograim of pasto-
ral care training for a cadre of Cathol lay p visitations
of patients and families. In December, 1993, the Counehof the Nebraska Synod, ELCA,
decided to terminate direct support of the pastoral care program at University Hospital
due to budget restraints. The hospital has assumed some but not all of these costs. Asa
result, the joint Clinical Pastoral Education program with Immanuel Medical Center
and Clarkson Hospital was discontinued in 1994,

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

Throughout its 75 year history, the University Hospital has had the help of many
volunteer organizations, groups and individuals. Until the 1950', the physician staff
was entirely volunteer as been discussed elsewhere; however, in this section the services
of “nonprofessional” community volunteers will be covered. Mrs. Alice Friedlander,
Director of Volunteers from 1973 to 1990, was able to provide information about the last
95 years. Information on volunteer services prior to that time has been obtained from
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Medical Center publications and serendipitous random sources. Asa resul, some orga-
individuals may be i

“The earlest reference occurred in the section on the Uiversity Hospitalin Tyler and
Auerbach’s, “History of Medicine in Nebraska” 1%, The following statement occurs,
“The solarium in the third floor has been furnished for occupational therapy by the
Women’s. brask b Women's
Club of the College of Medicine.” There were other tmes, especially in the early years,
when each of these organizations contributed either financially or with service.

‘The “Nurse Reporter” of December 1950 ® noted, *Another new activity at the Uni-
versity Hospital is that of volunteers who assist during visiting hours.” These individuals
were organized by Mrs. Sallie Pakes who had worked as a volunteer Red Cross Nurse
Aide during the war. Members of the group were from Mrs. Pakes’ community, the
Auliary of the Benson American Legion Post, the Faculty Wives Club of the College of
Medicine, and personnel from the Brandeis store. Approximately 100 hours of service
were contributed each month.

Although no name was given to the group organized by Mrs. Pakes in the previous
reference, we find an article in “The Pulse” in 1959 %) in which Mrs. Pakes, as President
of the University Hospital Service League, reported on the League’s contribution. Dur-
ing the preceding year, 5,007 pieces, garments, and other s, hid been sewn b the
group. In addition, 58 Is contributed time to various the hospi-
tal. “The extensive sewing program, according to Mrs. Pakes, is to make much-needed
garments for hospital clinic patients. It is a cooperative affair involving the Service
League, Needlework Guild of Omaha, and Extension Clubs throughout the State, plusa
few church groups and individuals” 1%,

A number of Sorority Alumnae Organizations were involved in contributing in the
University Hospital. The Omaha Gamma Phi Beta Alumnae gave money to the Building
Comittee 1%, the Theta Sigma Chapter of Delta Theta Tau, the Pan Hellenic Associa-
tion and the Young Women's Fine Art Club gave money (' as did the Omaha Alumnae
Chapter of Delta Gamma 9. The latter group also staffed the Glaucoma Clinic every
‘Thursday for six years up to December 1960 and probably beyond.

‘The Indian Mother's Sewing Group made receiving blankets for the nursery
Another sewing group was *Pearl’s Auxiliary” which made pajamas, bibs and other items
for patients. In addition, the B.P.O. Does have sewn layettes and other needed items
since and have continued to be active until the present period.

In 1970, Mrs. Lily Okura was hired as the first director of volunteer services. Asnoted,
volunteers had been active in many areas prior to that time but had been selected and
trained by individual departments or worked on their own. After Mrs. Okura was hired,
all responsibiliy for volunteers in the hospital was placed in the Volunteer Services De-
partment. Thisincluded the Red Cross volunteers who had started serving in the hospi-
talin 1960. Among the areas of services provided under the Volunteer Service Depart-
ment at that time, was the Art Cart, Tour Guides, Volunteens and the Information Desk

),
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which volunteers manned from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday **9. The
Omaha Council of Jewish Women provided volunteers for a program which tested new
born infants for hearing deficiencies. Shordly, afier Mrs. Okura was hired, a gift shop
was opened just off the hospital lobby on the third level and staffed by volunteers to raise:
money to donate to various hospital projects. Monies from the gift shop purchased the
first mobile van for the hospital and contributed to the Meditation Room which opened
in 1974. Asnoted earlier, a number of other organizations contributed to that endeavor
also; the Faculty Women's Club, House Officer's Wives Club, the College of Medicine
Alumnae Association, University of Nebraska Foundation, and private donors.

In January, 1973, Mrs. Alice Friedlander became Director of Volunteer Services. Dur-
ing her tenure, many new volunteer programs were initiated in the hospital. A few in
which volunteers became involved were the surgery waiing room, adult L.C.U. waiting
room, Child Life Program in Pediatrics, Emergency Room, Hospital Admitting, Pet
‘Therapy, Hospice, “Comforters” in Neo-Natal ICU, and the Geriatric Unit.

A major addition to volunteer services occurred in 1976 when the hospital adminis-
trator, Mr. Douglas Peters, asked Mrs. Constance Skultety and Mrs. Friedlander to form
a steering committee to plan an auxiliary for the University Hospital. Community lead-
erswere invited and met November 19, 1976 at Mrs. Skultety’s house,

By January, 1977, the first board met and by March, 1977, the Articles of Incorpora-
tion and Bylaws were completed, approved, and filed. The first membership drive was
conducted in February, 1977, resulting in a membership of 252. In May, 1977, the aux-
iliary purchased the existing hospital gift shop. Money from the gift shop, plus other
auxiliary endeavors, such as the Thrift Shop which opened June 15, 1983 and the annual
boutique *Holiday Happening”, resulted in donations which built the Solarium on the
fifth level and funded in excess of $400,000 for the Outpatient Surgical Center. The
awxliary remains as an active and dynamic source of funds and volunteers working in
various in-service areas of the hospital.

In November, 1987, the first Patient Relations Coordinator, Elaine Shapiro, was hired
and added to the Volunteer Service Department staff. The position was an outgrowth of
the volunteer patient relations program. When the liver transplant program started, a

lunteer program Patients and families
were met at the airport by a volunteer and transported to the hospital. Often, families
were taken back to the airport when leaving. In later years, the program expanded to
other patients and their families, and there were volunteers in the bone marrow trans-
plant unit working with patients and families.

In 1991, the Bone Marrow Transplant Companion program received a Point of Light
from President Bush and the American Hospital Association Award of Volunteer Excel-
lence, and in 1992 the volunteer Patient Transportation program also received the Ameri-
can Hospital Association Award of Volunteer Excellence.

Liz Brumm became the third director of Volunteer Services in 1990. By that time,
volunicers were involved in 35 areas of the Medical Center. The program now has over
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in over 75 areas and voluni d ‘more than 60,000 hours
of service to patients and their families. Hospital Auxiliary fund raising has more than
doubled in the last three years.

MISCELLANEOUS

In addition to the services described earlier, the University of Nebraska Hospital hasa
number of special units which enhance its ability to provide service to the community.
Many hospitals have a small library for the use of their professional staff. Since the
University Hospital has been an integral part of the University's educational system from
its inception, its medical library has been a significant unit, Originally, it was located on
the fifth level of Unit 1 in the cast wing over the hospital entrance. When Unit 2 was
completed in 1927, the library was moved to the north wing occupying levels 3 and 4, In
1970, it moved to its present location on top of the Basic Science Building, now Witison
Hall. The Leon S. McGoogan Library occupies three floors starting at level 6 and serves
as aregional library as well as the library of the Medical Center. The Library was named
in honor of Dr. Leon S. McGoogan who was a former chairman of the Department of
Obstetrics and Gynecology and chairman of the fund drive which raised amajor portion
of the money for the new library.

A Gastroenterology laboratory located in the north wing was started when Unit 3
opened in 1961. Subsequently, it moved to its present location in the north wing of Unit
2 on the fourth level after the library moved o its new building in 1970.

Specialized services such as cardiac catheterization and angiography were noted in
the section of Radiology. A non-invasive vascular laboratory employing ultrasound was
initiated in 1986. It is located on the fourth level on the north side of the corridor
connecting Unit 2 and 4. A heart station is located in the south wing on the sixth level
of Unit 1. EKG's and Echo Cardiograms as well as a number of other diagnostic and
evaluative procedures are carried out in this Unit.

Electroencephalography (EEG) was first offered at the Nebraska Psychiatric Institute
shortly after it opened in 1955. In 1967, an EEG machine was installed on the fourth
level of the hospital beneath the seats of the Medical Amphitheater which is located on
the north side adjacent to Unit 1. When Unit 4 was opened in 1969, 2 full scale EEG
Iaboratory was established on the seventh level where it is til located.

‘An Audiology laboratory for hearing testing was started in the Otorhinolaryngology
clinic area when it opened in 1968 in the south wing of Unit 1 on the third level. A
second laboratory was added in the north wing opposite to the clinic in 1987. In 1993,
with the opening of the Outpatient Care Center, the Audiology service moved to the
second level of that unit in the Otorhinolaryngology clinic area where it now has four
testing booths,
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